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THE PRESIDENT. Wi11 the Clerk call the

ROLL CALL: President Fargnoli: Here.
Mr. Addison: Here.
Mr. Ama7.gno: Absent.
Mro Boy1e: Hereo
Ms. Brassil: Here.
Mro Cirelli: Here,
Mr. Co1a: Absenta
Mr. Dillon: Here.
Mr. Easton: Here.
Mr. Farmer: Here.
Mr. Flynn: Here.
Mr. Glavin: Here.
Mr. Gri£fin: Absent.
Mr. Johnsan: Absent.
Mr. Lynch: Absent.
Mr. Mansalillo: Absent.
Mr. Moise: Hereo
Mr. 0'Connor: Absent.
Mr. Paolino: Absent.
Mr. Pearlman: 1~lase~t.
Mr~ Pennine: Here.
M~. Petrosinelli: Here.
I~r. Salva~ore: Here.
Mr. Snowden: Absent.
Mr. Stravato: Here,
Mr. Xavier: Absent.

THE PRES IDENT . Fifte~ea present , e lev~n

absent; we have a quorum.

MR. GLA~TIN. Before we proceed, I was

un~.ble to be here Tuesday nighta I just want to make a ver

brief statement for the record. At Tuesday'night's meeting

after a previous meeting the night be~ore of the entire Cit

Council, this Council in iCs wisdom deeided to change a

number of the ru1e~ under which we are presently going to
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conduct this hearing this eveninge I was very upset when

I read about this in the paper the next morning and when I

saw it on T~ that evening, because i felt that in a11

good fairness, our leadership had spent over an hour and a

half with attar~eqs for both parties in this matter trying

tio come up with a reasonable set of rules to .conduct this

as fair as possible, and the major thrust of our discussion

was that we should proceed unde~ the Rules of Evidence.

I'~ aot an attorneq, I'm not about to go into explanation

what the Ru1es of Evidence are, but the main thrust of what

I was 1.:~e~d to believe by the two attorneys involved is that

for the Ru1es of E~idence to be properly executed, there

must be proper time allotted for cross-e~mination of wit-

ness~s,

The reason that I'm stating this, Mr. Chairman, Mr.

Pr.esiden~, is that I'm very concerned as to the ru],e change ,

wha.t e~fect they're going to have on ~his hearing. I think

every Council person, I speak ior everyone when I state tha

when we bega~ this hearing, we strove our utmost to be as

£air as possible to both parties in this matter, and T am

very very concerned that this rule change in the middl.e of

the ballgame could have some ccnsequences later on if ap-

peals are taken, etcetera, etcetera, and I am not going to

turn this hearing into a ping pong match, by offering a
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change baek to the original rules, which I had contemplated,

but Z felt that this would just put a cloud over the entire

hearing, would pit Council. peopl.e against one another, w

is not my attempt, and i feel if I had not stood up and

spoken my piece, I would not be at peace with myself. I

don't think it was fair what was done after you agree to

one set of rules to change it in midstreama

So I did want that to be part of ~he record, this is

the way I fee1, I'm not going to, as I said previously, to

turn this into a ping pong match by proposing to change the

rules ~now, but I feel the Council peopie involved did not

do themselves a proper service bq doing Chato I'm being

very honesx when I say this, alI politics and nonsense

aside. I think this is a very very serious matter we are

pr~sently invoived wit'h; we are ta7.king about the future of

one man's career and due process, and I'm very very concern~

about that. I just wanted to make that statement. Thank

qouo

THE PRESIDENT. We didn't tinish with

the last witness last Tuesday, right. Mr. Cesaro.

MR. PICCIRILLI. I'd ask the witness to

re~urn to the stand, please.

(NIlt. MANS4LTLL0 IS RECORDED AS
PRESEHT)
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MRO CHAIKA.. Mr. President, wheri we

last closed, I believe it wa~ more than five mir~utes that

Mr. Piccirilli had questioned Mr. Cesaro, ~nd that questio

from the Councilmen were going to be next when we resvmed,

and i believe, if my recollection is correct, was that Mr.

Pear]sn~an said he wanted to ask the first question.

T~ PRESiDENT. I think he had only fou

minutes, he lias on~ minute tv go. I checked the ti.me. He

has one minute Co gom

(MR. ALMACNO RECaRDED AS PRE;

ELEMENT J. CESARO (RECALi,ED)

EXAMINATION BY MR. PICCIRILLI {Cont'd)

Qo Mr. Cesaro, on the evening of November 18, 1980, did you r~

ceive a message from Nir. Bowie to call the Mayor?

THE WITNESS. Wou3d qou mind repeat~.ng

t~lAt?

MR. PICCIRILLi. P~. President, i~ he';

going to repeat the questioas, I hope I don't get charged

for the time to repeat the question.

NIIt. CIREI.LI. He ask~d for every ques-

tion to be repea~Ced.

i~f.t, PICCIRILLI. That's correct. Of t~

faur minutes I questioned, two and a ha.lf minutes were Mr,

Ce~aro not understanding what I said, so::i l3ope you onl.y
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count the time he answers mq questions.

T~E PRESIDENT. I'll be a very fair

judge.

I~t. PICCIRILLI, I'll ask the stenogr

er to do it, Mr. Cesaro.

T~IE WITNESS. Mr. Piccirilli, my life is

at stake hereo S don't consider this very funnp.

. NIlt. PICCIRILLI. Mr. Cesaro, I don't

consider it funny either. i'm asking the stenographer to

read it back. That's what she gets paid ~o do.

THE WITNESS. If you don't mind, I want

to make absolutely sure I understand the question, and if

you°don't like ~hat, I'm ve~y sorry, I want to be accurateo

MR. PICCIRILLIm Mr. Cesaro, that's why

we have a stenographer here to be sure you understand~ and

answer the question under oath.

(QTJESTION ItEAD)

A. The answer is no.

Q. Mro Cesaro, the evening of November 18, 1980, did you re-

ceive a message from Mr. Melvin to call Mr. Cianci?

A. The answer is no.

Q. Did you receive a message from a Mr. McLa.ughlin to ca11

Mr. Cianci?

A. The answer is nom
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Q. On November 14, 1980, did you know how much salt was in

the Troy Street Garage?

THE WITNESS. What was the date ~hat

just mentioned please?

(QUESTION READ)

Aa The answer is no.

Qo Why didn't you?

A. Because we had not asses~ed the volurne. My deputy

director who was assigned ~o perfoxm that duty did not

come bael~ with tha.t information.

Q, And you assigned him that d~ty on the 14th, or the 17th of

November? What da.y was it that you assigned Mr, Lembo the

task of determining how much sa1~C and sand was at the Troy

Street Garage?

Ao We received a request from Mr. Mancone on the 13th.

It's in the letters presented to the Council here, and it

was received in my office at about approximately 3:15 that

afternoon. That was given over to Mro Lembo the follow-

ing -- either that evening or the following morning to get

the informa.tion requested in that letter.

Q, wtzy aid you g~~e ~r to Mra ~bo?

Ae He's my deputy director, isn't he?

Qo Had you ever asked him to take that before?

Ao I have the privilege to assign the responsibility to
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anybody I feel is capable of getting me the information.

I~t. PICCIRILLI. May I ask t'hat the ques

tivn be read back and answered, please.

I~Ilto CHAIKA. I object, I believe it has

been answered.

MR. PICCIRILLI. I'd ask the question be

read back.

THE PRESIDENT. Overruled.

(QuEs~zoN x~an)

1~Ilt. CHAIIGA. Is there a question pendin

MR. PICCIRILL.i. I will ask her to read

it back againd

THE PRESIDENT~ This is your 3.ast ques-

tlOA•

Mlt. PICCIRILLI. Well, if it is, I'11

withdraw it and ask one more.

Q. Did you ever have any conversations with Mr. John Melvin

in a restaurant on the North End concerning testimony be-

fore this, or hearings in the Federal Court?

NIlt. CHAIKA. May I ha~re a time fixed?

A. I don't know what you are making reference to, I'm

sorry,

Q. I am asking yau whether yo~ have ever liad a meeting with

i Mr. John Melvin in a restaurant in the North End where you
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asked hi.m to cha.nge his testimony in this, or a hearing

in Federal Court?

A. I asked Mrs Melvin to change his testimony? Absolute

absalute lie.

MR. PICCIRiLLI. The answer is no,

yo,~.

Ti~ PRESIDENT. That's it. Councilmen,

your:privilege ~o ask anq questions you want to.

NIl2. MANSOLILLO. Mr. President, if I ma3

direct some q~.estians to Mr. Cesaro?

THE PRESIDENT. Yes.

BY MR. MANSOLiLLO•

Qm On Monday, November 18, whea was your earliest apprisal:'

of the impenciing snowstorm? When did qou come to know tha

, the snowstorm wa.s on its way?

! A. I want to set tt~e record clesr. You just said Monday

November 18 ~- November ~he 18th was a Tuesday.

' Q. I'm sorry, November 17, excuse me.

A. When was I apprised of what?

Q. When did you come to knc~w ~hat there was an impending snown

s torm?

A. When Z heard i~ on the radio.

Q. Approximately at what time was that, Mr. Cesaro?

A. Approximate~.y about 9; 30.
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Er~. ~~rt zs ~coRnm ~,s
PRESENT)

Q. A.M. or PoM.?

A. That evening.

Qa In the evening?

A. Right.

Q. You had no indication prior to that time that there may be

snow falling?

THE WITNESS. From who?

MR. MANSOLILL4. From anq source, p~a.blic

broadcasts --

A. I think I jv.st answered your ques~Cion prior to that, n

I heard it on tl~e radio.

Qo You heard it on the radio at 9:30 in the evening?

A. Yes.

Q. And at that ti.me did you take any steps, as Director of

Public Wor~s, to insure tlia.t the proper preparation wo~Id

conm~ence; tha.t is, calling personriel, or prepariz~g equip-

ment, d~.d you do anything at 9:3a in the evening to prepare

for the storm?

A. Mr, Mansolillo, when I make my prese~tation a little

la~er, I'm going ta give you ar~d the Council members, an

entire b~~akdown of whaC the procedure is associated with t

snc~w removal effort. At tihat poi.nt, it will definitely

answer your queStiori in its en'ti.Yety.
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Q. We11, is there some reason why you ~houldn't answer it

now, Clement?

Am Yes, I think it is going to be repe~itious and we are

consuming the people's tisae.

r~, r~axsoizr~o. You may th~.nk ~~ ~$

repetitious and you may think it is coasuming.the people's

time, but I happen to rep~esent peopie in this assembiy,

and th~ people that I represent wan~ to have you answer

the question. I

THE WITNESS. A11 right. Repeat the

question. I'm sorry. I go~ off on another cliain of th

if you don't mind.

1~IItm MANSOLILLO. Z think that qou would

be better of£ to answer the question rather than to debate

me, or find a way not tv answer the q~.estion, because what

I, wi1.1 do Clement, I wi11 stand here ar~d question you ~.nd

question you and question you until you are exhausted from

questioning, so ans~ter the question and be happy. Wouid

you read the question?

MR. CHAIKA. I object, I think that the

Councilmar~ owes an apology to this witness and to Che body.

He has to ld ou the record tha,t he intends to h~~~a~~ass this

witness p~obably for his own personal motivation and to

grandstand and to delay these proceedings.

s
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1~IIt. MANSOI,ILLO. I may have said what I

intend to do, but, Mr. Cesaro began by actions --

TFffi PRESIDENT. Excuse me, we're wasting

a 10~ of time. Let's g~t on with the questi.on. ,

l~llt. MANSOLII~I~Oo Actior~s speak as loud I'

as words.

T~ PRESIDENT. Mr. Cesaro will answer

any question you ask, right, Clem?

MR. MANSOLILLO. Would you go b~,ck to

my original question?

1~Ilt. CHAIKA. Just so there's no mistake,

would the stenograph~r read it back for Mr. Cesaro?

(QUESTZON ~TO. 16, PAGE 3-10
~n s~C~c)

A. In reply to that, the answer to that is no, and pu~e

and si.mple is the system devised for snow removal, I might

as well get on that subject now, okay, pure and simple.

The system devised for snow removal is whether the Director

of Public Works, the Mayor, or any other person not asso-

ciated with snow removal., is not presenC for any unknown

reason, the snow removal is a very crucial service, it is

an emergencycriteria. The system is set up that the first

one that monitors or alerts the snow rennoval operations is

the dispatcher who is on duty. There is a dispatcher as-

signed to that duty around the clock. He is the triggering
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mecha.nism that informs the necessary personnel associated

with ~he snow re~oval effort ~o place them into action.

Q. Am I interpreting it correctly, then, tha.t your absence

trom that process, that you had virtually nothing to do,

nor would you have anything to do with tha.t?

A. T am saying that the normal procedure is.he is the

triggering mecha.nism to institute any necessary snow re-

moval action. I become a participant later on in the

procedure which I am going ~o outline to the Council.

Q. We11, at 9:30 when you came to know there was a storm com-

ing, you simply expected the trigger to happen without

evea checking on it?

NIlt. CHA.IIfA. Objection. The witness

tesCified he heard that there may be snow, aot necessarily

that there was a storm coming, and what a storm is means a

lot of different things to a lot of different people. So

think if the questioner would piease rephrase his question

in a more normal aad reasonable manner, I think we can get

on with it.

TI~ PRESIDENT. Sustained. Rephrase

yov.r questior~.

NIlt. MANSOLILLO. Rephrase my question.

Q. Any time after you learn~d at approximately 9:30, and bef

midnight, tha.t there was a report of snow that you heard
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the radio, or some other communication, did you make con-

tact with personnel that you say were responsible to check

on them?

A. Mr. Manso1i11o, during the course of my services as

the Director of Public Works, we ha.ve been faced with many

a storm threat, snow, predictions sometimes, to the d~gree

where they have forecasted eight inches of snow and in

reality, we waund up ~ith mayb~ ~ust a dusting. I'm just

trying to paint a cross-section £or youa No, we do not hit

the panic button immediafielq; we relq on the dispatcher to

follow it as closely as possible and notify the people who

are in charge of the snow removal effort, to watch it and

then at a future point, which I wi11 explain later in m~

presentation, the Director is informed of the crisis and he

then makes his appearance on the scene.

Q. Sa the Director waits fo~ cri~is, is tha.t what you are say-

ing, Mr. Cesaro?

A. Mr, Mansolillo, you interpret i~ an~:~a~. There is a

sy5tem set up, it's b~en in service for 13 years, we will

l~ear te~ti.mony to the effect that this is the system that's

been going on for 13 years and I, as the Director, have ac-

cepted that system as being a functional system and i feel

~hat I shvuld not alter ite And if you as a Councilman

feel it should be changed, that's qour prerogative, but the
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sqstem is supposed to be somewhat "fv.elproof."

Q. Can I hear t~at back again?

A. F~elproofO

~ l~t. PICCIRILLI. I think he means fool-!

proo f .

A. ..,Foolproof, ~hatever.

Qm You seem to be want~ng to make a presentation and not a~asw

questions. A].1 I ain concerned about is your activity soon

after you learned that there may be a storm. It's as I

said the other day, if a bornb is being ciropped, qou don't

wait for it to explode, you go to a shelter. You insist

on waiting to make a f~ll presentation. All I want to kno

is, did you do -- you keep on not answering tha.t question

did y~u eheck with any personnel on or about 9:30 on the

latie evening of November 17 tn insure that the process whi

i~s been practieed in that department was being adhered to

A. Onee again, the practice does not call for me to chec

on them. They have the responsibility a~rd serving in tha.t

capacity and they fulfil~.ed i~ in Che past 13 years and I

had no reason to believe that it was any different with

this mild s~orm, mild storm, that was being forecasted, be-

cause if you heard the forecast, i.t clearly stated that

there wss snow coming, a dusting of snow coming, passibly

turning to rain, and if you were aware of the temperatures
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at the particular time, you wouldn't have been too con-

cerned about this s~orm.

Qa We11, you said a little earl.ier that you don't know wh~.t

it will end up being, and you're correct, but would you hav~

made di.fferent move~ as Director had you heard that the

storm was going to be greater and yet turned out not to be

SO ?

A. I think I repeated to yvu the~e's been numerous oc-

casions where they predicted eight inches and t~taelve in~ches

of snow and it wound up as a dusting, Mr. Mansolillo; i.s

that point clear?

Q. Yes, but I'm sure there must have been numerous occasions

where they predicted four inches and it ended up being a

foot. So the very prediction does not, regardless of the

amount, does it not give you some reason to careful.ly ~ni-

tor the removal effort?

A. Mr. Mansol.illo, I repeat, once again, there is a sys-

tem for snow removal, it has its contingency plans and it

was instituted long before I became the Director of Public

Works, it has been functional, and it has protected the

taxpayer~ of the City of Providence with the exception of a

major major snowstorm.

Q. Okay, if you don't want to go down tt~e street of questi~n

and argument --
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NiR. CNAII~Ao I object to the Council-

man's characterization at this time; if he wants to make

speeches, let him say he's making speeches and not use the

guise of alleged cross-examination for the purpose of mak-

i~g his speech.

THE PRESTDENT. Continue with the ques-

t1021,

Q. When did you arrive at the Public Works Garage or at the

Public Wo~ks Department after you left your homeo I guess

you were there eariier on November 17 in the afternoon,

you left at approxi.mately quarter of five, correct, that's

what you said in your earli~r testimony?

A. On the 17th I left my office at approxi.matelq 4:45,

At that particul.ar time I was ia conference with my Deputy

Director, my secretary, Mr. Sl~sn DeBe11o, and for the rec-

ord once again that we were discussing with my Deputy Di-

rector --

(TNTERRUPTION)

A. .,.I wi11 try it again. At 4:45, we were in my office

trying to comply with the Mayor's request for the report on

the sand and salt, Which was one of the items that he re -

quested me in his office and Mr. Lembo had not been able to

give me that information, and at that point in time, we

were discussing tha.t we had to ha.ve tha.t information and
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hopefully for hi.m for the following morning, being that he

did not have the ti.me to get that information properly pre-

pared and evalua.ted for the Mayor.

Q. So you left the Public Works Department on or about 4:45

P.M. on the afternoon of the 17th of November?

A. That is right.

'~ Q. Did you return later that day oa November 17 to the Pu.blic

I'I Works Department, or was i~C early November 18, early morn-

ing November 18?

~I A. Yes o Between 12 :30, I think, jv.st rough].y, 12 :30/1:0()

~ I ma.de my appearance at the roller shed, located on Ernest

Street in the Department of Public Works.

Q, Did you have a reason for visiting the roller shed at that

t ime ?

A. Yes, I felt I had a reason to go there at that particu

i 1ar ti.me, becau~e I heard the report that ~here would be no

~~ sizable accumulatzon, and at that point in time, I felt a

responsibility that, as the Director, I should just drive

by and see what progress was be ing made do~rn at the Depart-

ment of Public Works.

Qo And what did you find in terms of the progress that was

being made?

A. I found myself in an emergency setup.

Qo What does tha.t mean, Mra Cesaro, you found yourself in an



3-19

, i

2

3

4

s

6

~

s

9

io

11

~ , 12

13

l4

~s

f 16~a
LL

O ~ /

O

= ia

_
° 19a

0
o Zo
~

zi

22

23

24

emergency setup?

A. I did not have the personnel and I knew I did not

have the equipment that was supposed to be properly pre-

pared for the season because of the layoffs.

Qo Were there ar~y people -- how many, roughly, people did you

find present there who were ia the employ of the city at

the time of your nisit on or about the 12th or after?

(MR. SNOWDEN IS RECORDED AS
PRESENT)

A. Mr. Ma,nsolillo, let me te11 you something, I was sur-

rounded by people. I don't know who they were; I never

assessed who they were. There were a lot of gentlemen

that were laid off, that were down there present, who w~re

deeply concerned about their jobs being performed by other

people, and there were quite a few people there pre~ent

when I arrived, and there was complete cha.os.

Q. There was complete chaos?

A. That's right.

Q. Explain, what do you mean cha.os? Did you attempt to direct

the people tihat were there to do certain functions and they

decided to contraband you or w`hat? When you say complete

chaos, what do you mean?

Ae Very disappoiated people that had been laid off,

livelihood depended upon it, they were watching every re-

action, every action by the mentiiat were there, available
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tv perform the work, theq were deeply concernedo

Qm So you perceived that there w$s complete chaos when you

are saying that tihere were a number of people there who

were deeply conce~ned~ Now, what makes you think -- I

~!, don't understand what you mean by chaos. Was there fight-

ing, was there screaming, yelling?

A. Ttzere was iaany arguments going on, and I did not be-

come any participant; there were many things being dis-

cussed which I was not a participan~ of, ar~d there was com-

plete confusion when I arrived at that Department of Public

Works roller shed.

Q. How did you perceive there was comple~t~ confusion,did you

speak to anyone who was there?

A, Look Mr. Mansolillo, you are a grown man, you know

what confusior~ is, I don't have to explain to you what con-

fusion is. There was complete confu~ion and cha.os. I am

sure you are familiar with the two words a~d I'm sure you

are capable of understanding what confusion and chaos is,

and that's w~fnat I hav~ applied to the status of that roller

shed when I arrived there at that particular time in the

morninge

NIIto MANSOLILLO. My attorney doesn't ob

ject, we want to give Mr~ C~saro the opportunity to say

everything he'd like to sayo
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MR. PICCIRILLi. May I have that quest

and answer read back.

(LAST QUESTION AND ANSWER READ

Q. Well, did you have any way •- or did you know how many

mechanics ~-

Mit. SALHATORE o Point of order, please.

Q. ...were on hand at that time?

THE PRESIDENT. Yeso

MR. SALVATORE. As Council members, we

are to ask question of Mr. Cesaro; is that correct?

THE FRESIDEATT. Yes.

P~t. SALVATORE. I~ it okay for us to get

the questions from someone else, sach as an attor~ey?

THE PRESIDENT. It doesn't mak~ any dif-

ference who you get the questions from.

MR. SALVATORE. It seems to me tiiat the

attorneys happen to be giving al,l the questions to Mra Man-

solillo.

MR. PICCIRILLI. That's not true.

Mtt. SAL~ATORE. They are writing them do~

for him, whispering to him.

I~t. PICCIRILLI. That's not true.

l+~t. MANSULILLOo For the record, Mr. Ro-

te11a just gave me three questions, it is my decision whethE
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I should ask them, I have been asking questions without any

prompting r~.ght along.

MR. SAL~ATORE. Who is your attorney,

please?

MR. MANSOLILLO. Nobody is my attorney.

MRm MOI~E. He said "my attorney".

MR. MAN~OLILLO. Yes, I said my attorney

MEi~. SALVATORE. Could we have that read

back an the record, as to whether or not Councilman sa~.d

"my attorney."

I~i. MANSOLiLLO. I certainly did say my

attorney and ~ said T don't have my attorney here to -- I

didn't call on Mro Piccirilli~ When 1►Sr. Chaika made h~.s

remarks --

MR. SAL~IATORE. Do you feel you are cap-

able to make pour oTsn comments a~d questions?

MR. MANSOLILLO. I certainly feel as

tt~ough I am capable and I also feel capable to accept recom

mendations or suggestionso

THE PRESIDENT. Z`he Councilmen can ask

as many questions as they want, you can do the same thirig.

I don't care who gives it to them. I~ is our privilege to

ask a11 the questions we want regardless who gives them to

them. If somebody wants to give him a question to ask, it
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is his perogative whether to ask it or noC, and you can do

the same thing and you can do the same thing. So 1et's

continue. We are here to find out a11 the facts, regard-

less of who gives the questions.

MR. MANSOLILLO. I asked a question be-

fore this plan. Could you repeat the question?

MS. BRASSIL. Beiore we go on, Mr. Pres

dent, Mr. Cesaro is sitting here as an adverse witness, is

this the proper ti.me for tl~e Council to ques~ion him. i

thought wha.t 'he should do is lay out his whole story, ].et

Mr. Piccirilli get on with a11 his wi~nesses; he's sitting

th~re as an adverse witness at this point.

THE PRESIDENT. That was the change of

the rules.

MR. PICCIRILLI, Mr. President, the rule

as I understood them, were rules that I'm bound by, are

that once a witness is questioned, the Council can ask ques

tions, whether he is an adverse witness or not, he's st~.11

a witness.

MS. BRASSIL. I thought it would make

more sense for hiun to lay out his own testimony, and then

recross and examine.

MR. MANSOLILLO. If it is the ruling of

the Chair that Mr. Cesaro is going to be given Che oppor-
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tunity to outline his story or his version of what ha.ppene ,

regarding these charges, then I would forego questioni~gm

At this time, however, it Iia.s not been clear to me

that Mr. Cesaro is going to be answering questions even

~rom his own attorney. I haven't heard that being estab-

lished herea You know these rules are here today and gone

tonwrrow.

THE PRESiDENT. If I recall --

MR. MANSOLILLO. Mayor Cianci was here

and testified and I don't understand exactly -- I don't

understand the rules quite frankly because they have been

changed and I am in apprehension they may be changed again

knowing this crowdo

MSO BRASSIL. I would like to see his

whole testimony take place and then question hian.

THE PRESIDENT. If I recall last week o~

Tuesday the rules were changed, the Mayor who was a witnes~

and the Councilmen, several Councilmen got up and asked

questions and he answered them, se~eral of them.

MSa BRASSIL. But that was after his

fu11 testimony.

finishedm

THE PRESIDENT. He wa~n't complete].y

MR. ADDISON. Yes, he was.
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MS, BRASS'IL. It would make more sense

for him to lay out his own pl.an, what he's going to testi

t0.

THE PRESIDENT. I think we changed the

rules. We'll stick bq the rules, thep can ask any ques-

tions they want.

MR. CIRELLI. Maybe they'd like to cha

the rules again. It is our perogativea

(BRIEF RECESS)

THE PRESIDENT. Clerk, ca11 the roll.

ROLL CALL: President Fargno7.i: HereQ
Mr. Addisvn: Here.
Mr. Almag~o: Here.
Mr. Boyle : Iiere o
Ms. Brassil: Here.
Mr. Cirelli: Here,
Mr. Cola: Absent.
Mr. Di11on: Here.
Mr. Easton: Here.
Mr. Farm.er: Here.
Mr. Flynn: Here.
Mr. Glavin: Here.
Mr. Gr~.ffin: Absento
Mr. Johnson: Absent.
Mr. Lynch: Absent.
Mr. Maansolillo : Here.
Mr. l~oise : Here.
Mr. 0'Connor: Absent.
Mrm Paolino: t~bsent.
Mr. Pearlman: Here.
Mr. Pennine: Here.
Mr. Petrosinelli: Here.
Mr. Salvatore: Here.
Mr. Snowden: Here.
Mr, Stravato: iiere.
Mr. Xavier: Absent.
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THE PRESIDENT. Nineteen present, seven

abseat, we have a quorwn.

BY MR. MANSOLiLLO:

Qa Mr~ President, Mr. Cesaro, if I may direct a question to

you to set the record straight, did you meet with Mr. Mel-

vin on Saturdaq, November 22, in a restaurant in the City

of Providence?

Ao At that particular ti.me that you are specifying, I ha

a coffee with Mr. Melvin and Mr. Anthony DelSanto and Mr.

Silvio DeBello, at a donut shop, yesa

Q. Where was tha.t donut shop, Mr. Cesaro?

A. What was that, please?

Qa Where was it?

AQ That was on CMarles Street.

Q. Mr. Donut, is that the name of the res~aurant?

A. Mr. Donut; I believe it's at the corner of Branch

Avenue and Ha.wkins Street.

Q. Did you hav~ a reasan to meet on Saturday, Idovember 22,

with Mr. Melvin and Mr. DelSanto, and Mr. DeBello, at the

donut siwp?

I A. Yes.

Q. And do you mind sharing witih us what that reason might hav~

been?

A. Yes, pure and si.mple, I wanted a bre~kdown on the
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personnel that were supposed to be available tha.t evenir►g

of the ~torm, by name and the reaso~ why they were not

available.

Q. And why wouid qou hav~e to ha.ve that meeting with Mr. DeBell --

we1]., Mr. DeBe11o?

A. He was pre~ent, he's ~.iways with me.

Q. As a friend?

A. As a close friend, yes.

Q, What about Mr. M~el.vin, why was he se~.ected for that?

Am You will ha.ve to ask Mr. DelSanto, Mra DelSanto took

Mr. Melvin along with him.

Qo So you were to meeti with Mr. DeBe11o, and he brought along

Mi'. MG'~.Vlll?

A. That's exactly right.

Q, Why did you ca11 on Mr. DeBe110 to meet with you at that

t i.me ?

A. We were going to discuss, once agai.n, ~he names of the

people that were supposed to be available the night of the

storm and the reasons why they were not presento

Q. So you had requested this meeting?

A. I asked Mr~ DeXSanto to discuss it with me, and he

made himself available to meet me and discuss it over a

cup of coffee at that particul.ar lo~ation, yes.

Q. What is Mr. DelSanto's position in the Depar~ment of Public
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Works?

A. He was the night forema.n the night of the stortn.

Q. He was the night foreman and therefore in charge of per-

30ilrie ~. ?

Ao That's right.

Q. For that evening?

A. He was in ch~.rge of his personnel. The men under his

ju~risdiction,

Q. (~kay, ~,rould any of those men have to do with snow removal,

is that why?

A. Absolutely.

Q, So ~hat's why }rou decided to talk to Mr. De7.Santo?

A. Abso~.uteiy.

Q. So as far as you know, Iyiro Melvin just catne along with Mr.

De1San~o?

A. As a spectator.

QQ Just as Mr. DeBella came along with you as a friend, or

whatever?

A. E~cactly.

Q, Wha.t inform.ation did you g7.ean from that meeting. [Jhat did

you find out in tex'ms of personne]. there?

A. I have that information and wiil make that information

available in my presentation that I will be giving shortly.

Q. Well, I'd like to hear it at that time but i would like to
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hear it right nowo

A, Okay. Okay, the following information was given to

me at tha.t specific time in the donut shop tha.t i.s under

discussion and this information was given to me by Anthony

DelSanto who was ~he foreman on duty that evening of the

storm. Haig DiMaia: he's, for the record, considered one

of the heavy equipmen~ operators. He was called, no answer

Julius Johnson, also a heavy equipment op~rator. He had

no phone. They ma.de an attempt to reach him, but he was

unreacha.ble. Ma.rco Guarino was on vacation. Steve Petran-

ge1o, Joe Petrangelo, Don Harrington, Grady Green, Dennis

Ferris. All laid off. The night shift, Ernest ~,ima wasn't

ia because he suffered a massive heart a~tack. George De-

Pasqua.le, who was the heavy equipment operator on the night

shift, called in sick. That was the sum~ation and the

presenta~ion given to me by Mr. Anthony DelSanto.

Q. So Mr. DelSanto simply presented that to you, and that was

the end of your conversation?

A. I would say we might have discussed other things that

I don't recollect, but as far as your inuendos tha.t I made

any deals or tried to influence Mr. Melvin, is absolute

1ie -- those inuendos keep to yourself.

,Q. Maybe the record should be re-read. I can recall making

~ 24 II no inuendos. Is there something that deserves to be
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noticed in that regard, Mr. Cesaro~

TT~ WITNESS. Wi1I the record be read

back about the question referred ta me, whether or not I

influenced Mr. Melvin in any waq. I d on't recall the

specifics. Would you read ttia.t to me please, when I ca1

him a 1iar.

N~t. MANSOLILLO. I don't remember you

calling me a liar.

MR. CHAIKA. I think it was when Mr.

Piccirilli asked the questions.

THE PRESIDENT. Counsel Piccirilli a

that question.

I~t. PICCIR~LLI. I thi.nk the record wi1

show, I asked the question.

THE PRESIDENT. Wou1d you l.ike to hear

it back?

MR. PICCIRII.LI. I'd appreciate the

stenographer reading back mq question.

{PAGE 3-8 LINES 17 THE~OUGH 24
PAGE 3-9 LINES 1 THROUGH 4
x~n BAcx)

THE PRESIDENT. Councilman Mansolillo.

Q. Am I correct in assuming that you~~met with Mr. DelSanto

because you ~aere unable to get documentation as to c,iho was

present that evening?
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A. Mr. Manso1i11o, when I arrived that evening, I pre-

sented the question, the logical quest~.on, quite a few I,

questions, which I'm going to give you in my testimony --

Q, Which evening are you 'talking about?

A. The night of the storm when I appeared ~Chere between

12:30 and 1:00 on November 1$, I wi11 present the informa-

tiona I will not avoid it, but I want you tv know that

when I approached the roller shed, my first duty was to see

who was in charge, and at the time, Mr.Ernest Dambrosco,

who was in charge of the snow coordination operation, was

not present. Second, tl~ wagon master, Mr. D`Amico was not

present. The third in command was Mra Micha.el Acetta, and

I discussed with Mr. Michael Acetta, and Mra Guy Zanni, who

was in charge of the mechanics of the roller shed, and also

Mr. Anthony DelSanto, the status of ~hat particular snow I

operation at that moment when I arrived at the roller shed.

Q. So back to my question though, which I think was, did you

meet with Mr. DelSanto on the afternoon of November 22, or

sometime during the da.y, November 22, at tha.t restaurant,

Mr. Donut, to ~scertain information as to what personnel

available the evening of the storm, because you were unable

to gain that info~mation from records of the City of Provi-

denc e :

A. Yes, tha.t's right. At tha.t particular moment, I was
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not worried or concerned about their statu~, their cla~si-

fications, o~ what their responsibilities were. I was

faced with one major issue, wha.t personnel were avsilable

at the roller shed to perform the snow operation duties

that evening. I was talking about figures, and the job

classi£ications of the men that we~e able to perform the

duties. I did not want the history ~.nd background at tha.t

particu].ar time why each individual was not there, but I

felt tha~ be~ore I came to this hearing, that I owed it

to the Council tca. give them an intelligent evaluatian of

what transpireci, a little mo~e extensively and that's ~hp',

the meeting was set up with Mr. DelSanto to give me the

particulars tha.t at that particular imarning, when i arrive

w~re not necessary.

Q. Are you aware that there is a record of the tune of each

emp].oyee kept by the Pciblic Works Department?

A, Mr. Mansolillo, I atn sure I am acquainted with the

fact tha.t we keep time records of a11 personnel that re-

ported for work, y~s, but we did not go through tha.t ex-

tensive evaluatior~, A11 I was faced witl~ were the simple

facCs, how many bodies were there, what their job classi-

fications were, a~d what their responsibilities or the jo

that theq could perform in comp~.iance with the union re-

quirements.

~
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Q. You were cor~sulting with Mr. DelSanto as to what the uni~on

requires, Mr, Cesaro?

A. Are you attempti.ng to -- I'm saying that at that

p~rticul.ar time, I knew exactly what a heavy equip~me~t

operator does, and I knew what an operator did, and I knew

what a l~borer did, and I knew where the responsibilities

were relative to the equipment that had to be put into

service for the snow operation tha.t morning.

Q. So you knew that there were taaue records kep'C of the time

of various Public Works employees, were you interested in

~sing that to substantiate your -- not substantiate -- or

find out what was going on in the Publ,ic Works Departmertt;

or a~e those records of no use?

A. Mro Mansolillo, would zhose records put those trucks

on the road?

Q„ ~ thc>ught we weren't tialking about putti.ng trucks on the

road?

A. I'm asking qou a question, would those records at

, tha~ particular ti.me assist me in p~xtting those trucks

into operation? Be serious about it. I am asking you a

sensible questionn

Qa If you want to come out here, I'll go up there, and I'll

answer a11 the questions you'd like.

THE PRESIDENT. Just strike that from

the record.
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Qo You said you were interested in getting trucks on the road,

now that seems to change entirely the reason for your meet-

ing. You had said earlier tha.t you meant to find out who

and in what classification were available to work during

~ that evening or early marning~of the snowstorm, is tha.t

whq you met?

A. That isn't what I saida

Q. We11, what did you say?

A. I said I wanted an evaluation to be able ~o present

to the Counci7. shou~.d they ask me, the various people that

were not present that were supposed to be available and the

reason why they were not available that evening af the snow

storm.

Qo We11, my question now ~o you is, were you aware that there

were these records that would recount that, that would sho

who was not present?

A. The records are turned in usually by the foreman, the

turn in their ~Cime at the end of the week.

Q. So you know that these records exist?

A. Yes, at the end of the week they turned in their time

yes.

Qa Yau know they exis~ though?

A~ They exist when they assemble them at the end of the

week, Mr. Mansolillo.
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Q. We11, in any case, were pou interested in looking at these

records to find out who was present or not present?

A. No, because it wasn't going to change my situation at

81~•

Qo We11, was Mr. DelSanto going ~o change qour situation?

A. Mr. DelSanto was my ~oreman, do you agree? Mr. Michae

Acett~ is my general foreman, do you agree? And as an end

product, I wi11 rely on whatever they te11 me as being ac-

curate because ~hey are responsibl.e for the personnel under

neath themQ

Q. So you felt a need to meet with Mr. DelSanto because of

personnel that were under him during ~tha.t evening. You

said your general foreman, was he present, Mr. Acetta?

A. I think the record shows that, Mr. Mansolillo.

Q, All right, he was present?

Ae Yes.

Q. At the same time that Mr. DelSanto was present?

' A. Righto

Q. On the evening?

Ae Right, the morning.

Q. Early morning/7.ate evening, 17/18?

A. Be a little more accurate, the morning.

Q. On the early morning of 18 of November?

A. In the morning, right.
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Q.::- Have you consulted with Mr. Acetta as well?

Ao I spoke to Mr, Acetta, who is the general foreman,

he is the top af the echelon when Mr. ~ambro~s;~ n. was not

present -- I think i brought this point out time and tirae

again -- I wa~ amazed not to ~see Mr. Ernest Dambrosco, who

is in charge of the snow removal effort present, and as an

end product I went to Mr. Michael Acetta who was second in

command because second in coYmn,and would have been Pete

Cannellas, who was laid off.

I~t. MOISE. Mr. Presi.dent.

THE PRESIDENT. No, you ~ii~. g~~ your

turn.

1~. M~ISE. I just want to •-

TF~ PRESIDENT. You'11 get your turn.

Continue.

Q. To get back to my line of questioning regarding Mro Cesaro;

the evening of the 17/18, November, earlq morning, did you;

during that period, around midnight and after, did you gt

any time speak to John Melvin?

A, I think the record said that I had no conversation

with hian, but afrer t~at, somebody brought it to my atten-

tion that he was present and I--

Q. But you didn't speak to him?

MR. CHAIKA. Mr. President, I would
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appreciate if the gentleman wants to ask a question, he

should at least a11ow the witness to finish his answer be -

fore he interrupts him.

THE PRESIDEPIT. Sustained.

MR. MANSOLILLO. Finish ~our answero

A. ...The recard wi11 s how that the question was put to

me whether I had a cvnversation and was aware if Mr. Melvin

was present. At that time with a11 the coniusion that was

going on in t1~e garage, I honestly believe that I did not

have any conversation with this geritleman, but it was

brought ta my a~Cten~ion after, somebody corrected me and

said, "Dam, I didn't honestly know tha.t that man was presen

because tl~at man made an offer to go out for the boqs, and

go aut and get some coffee for ~he boys and I was in con-

versation with Mr. Bailey at that time. My mind was com-

pletely enChralled in what I was saying; there was a1~

kinds of confusion in the background, it is quite logical

tiha.t I could have made a mistake and not realized Mr. Mel-

vin was present at that particular time.

Q. In any event you had no conversation that you can recall

at that t i.me ?

A. Not at that particular ti.me that I recollect.

Q. During that period, after 12:30 or after the ti.me you ar-

rived on the early morning of the 18th, were qou aware that
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the Mayor was looking for you?

A. You know, Mr. Mansolilla, that seems to be a very im-

portant question ar~d a very important issue and I wi11

answer that, I am not going to answer that now, but it wi11

be answe~ced in m~ complete replq because I want to have all

the facts that are surrounded by i~m

Q. We11, Mr. Cesaro, it is apparent tha.~ qou do not want to

answer things until you're readq to answer them and I guess

I'11 have the opportunity to ask you questions about your

answers at that time, so at this time i wi1l just say I

wili wait to hear from you.

A. All right, in reply to your question, at no tim.e did

anybodq bring to my attention or ha.nd me a number, tele-

phone number, telling me and directing me that the Mayor

wanted me to ca11 him.

THE PRESIDENT. Are you ali through,

Councilman?

N~t. NIANSOLIyLO. At this point, yes;

just for the record, Mr~ President, we have a witness here

who wants to decide when he wi12. answer questions, and it

seems to me that it would be best, the more Z hear, the

nnore I hear reluctance to answer questions. So when we a

ready to answer questions, then without having to be ~o1d

that I am going to do it or I ain going to present this, or
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I am goi.ng to pr~esent rhat, then maybe I will have a more

willing witness. I don't want to badger the witness. The

witness wants to avoid answering questions at this time.

NIlt. CHAIKA. I objeet to the Council-

man's speech, If he could put on record one question that

hasn't been answered, I'd be most grateful.

THE PRESIDENT. Sustained.

I~Ilt. MANSOLILLO. I`li put on record the

fact Mr. Cesaro prefaces half of his remarks saying, f'I rm

going to make a presentation and x don't want to answier at

this tiune."

MR. CHAIKA. That's true, but every

single question has been answered and if Councilman Man-

solillo wants to ask any o~her question, I'd apprecia~e he

do it right now.

2yIlt. MANSOLTLLO. All right.

THE PRE3iDENT. Sustained.

MR. MANSOLILLO. What are we doing at

this point? Are we cha.nging the rules again?

I~t. CHAIKA. It appears you are wast

~Che Council's ti.me. If you ha.ve any legiti.mate question

ask, ask it.

have the floor.

THE PRESYDENT. Councilman, you still
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NIIt. MANSOLILLO. It may appear to Mr.

Chaika tl~at I am wasting the Council's ti,me, but I am try-

ir~g to find out exactl.y what ha.ppened ~hat evening and at a

other time subsequent to thaC evening tha.t may have affecte

! Mr, Cesaro's testimony here today.

,~ l~t. CBl~IKA. If he really wants to ask

tha.t q~aestion, he should have asked it first and perhaps

Mr. Cesaro would have recounted it in a chronological order

so that everybody cou].d understand it.i.:nplicitly in all its

ramifications, but is dilly dallying, going up and back and

up and back, with the obvious intention to confuse the wit-

ness and to con:Euse the whole gallery, ha.s been an utter

waste of this bodp's time. It is now 25 mi.nutes of six,

and we haven't moved to square one yet.

MR. MANSOLILLOo We11, in keeping with

what Mr. Cha.ik~ would expect of this questioner, I would

continue to question Mr. Cesaro of those even~s, and if

he is going to be answering questions -- I'm not cl.ear

whether Mr. Chaika is going to be cross-e~mining or eXam-

ining, I should say, Mr. Cesaro, at any point, because Mro

Cesaro ha.s said, or ~Che Cha.ir has said, Mr. Cesaro is going

to make a presentation and tha.t coz~cerns me because T do no~

believe that just by making a presentation, we wi11 be

getting at the bottom of this.
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MR. CHAIKA. If Mr. Ma.nsolil].o listened

to the rules or the motion that was originally read by

Councilm~an Addison and adopted by this body, it was very

clear the obvious intent was that I would ha.ve an oppor-

tunity to ask questions to Mr. Cesaro and tha.t would be

considered his presentation. Th,a.t presentation would be

limited to one hour and af~er which the whole Council coul

cross-exami.ne Mr. Cesaro at length. Th,a.t was the obvious

intent. This absolute wasting of ~n afternoon like this,

out of order, is absolutely beyond me. However, I gue~s

Mr. Mansolillo has his perogatives, and if he wants to

continue, it is up to him.

MR. MANSOLILLOa We11, if that is Coun-

ci1's understanding, is tha.t the Chair's understanding as

Wt311 ~

TI~ PRESIDENT. The understanding is

tha.t right now you can ask a11 the questions you want.

I~.t. MANSOLILLOa And after Mr. Chaika.

puts questions to Mr. Cesaro, all the questions we want

could be asked?

THE PRESIDENT. Tha.t~s right.

MR. MANSOLILLO. We11, I'11 wait for

the exa.mination by Mr. Chaika at this point.

THE PRESIDENT. Counci],man Moise, you
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ha.ve the f loo r.

MR. MOISE. Thank you, I have got one

question for claritication. We were talking about a coffee

shop, a donut shop, involving four people, Mr. Melvin, Mr,

DelSanto, Mr. DeBe11o, and Mr. Cesaro, but we got off -- I

don't know whether Mr. Mansolillo tried to confuse Mr.

Cesaro or what, and then other names were mentioned that

weren't preser~tm Now, he was direc~ing his questions at

the coffee shop and a Iot of other names came in. Acetta

and five or six other names, and I don't think it is at

fihe coffee shopo I want: to c.l:arify because you mentioned

a lot of names.

THE PRESIDENT. They were two different

questions. One was the coffee shop, one was something els

MR. MOISE m Where was the other locatio

I want that clarified.

THE PRESIDENT. The other location wher

Mike Acetta --

VOICE. The roller shed.

THE WITNESS, It was the roller shed.

BY MR. DILLON:

Q. Just one question. When was the meeting at the coffee

shop?

~~ A. It was on a Saturday morning, Councilman.

~
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THE PRESIDENT. November 22, Saturday

morning, November 22.

Q. It was after you were suspended?

A. Oh qes.

THE PRESIDENT. After the storm.

A. .a,After I was suspended by the way, too.

Q. You had already filed ~he court things and everything?

A m Oh yes, everything was complete. The only reason for

it, Councilman, was that I was trying to present as much

information to this Council to clear me vf aZl the cha.rges

and i felt before I could make an intelligeat presentation,

I should be able to get a few more facts because questions

like the CounciLnan has just presented to me, clear2y indi-

cate that he wanted more specifics and i feel that by meet-

ing with the respecti~e peop7.e, Z was meeting with th~m

purely to get the record straight so that when you people,

the Counci7inen here, asked me the questions, I could give

it to you more intelligent~y, and that was the oaly ulti-

mate purpose of our meeting.

THE PRESIDEI~T . Counc ilma.n Boyle .

BY MR. BOYLE:

Qo Yes, Mr. Cesaro, since you have been directed -- was this

a poliey of the Mayor, to request of you the amount of sa

and salt and the preparation of ~he machinery?
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A. Never has been.

Qp All right, thi.s is a personal question then. Do you think

the reason why he did this was maybe to embarrass you at

all, or wha.t was the reason behind ~he Mayor doing it at

this proper ti.ane?

A. Councilman, I am glad you asked me that question.

Like I told you, this entire ~now operation was usually

handled and coordinated by Ernest Dambrosco and Peter Can-

nellas. They inform me and they have, whenever we are

approaching the snow:~ea~on, they take on t~e responsibilit

which is designated to thesri, to ma.ke sure that they have

in readiness adequate supply of sand and salt for the

first storm. Now, when I say the first storm, usually,

the consumption on an average storm is somewhere between

2~0 ton to 300 toa of sand and salt. Last year, we had a

surplus of sand and salt left over i.n the roller shed. As

an end product, we decided at that poi.nt in tur►e to take

tMe surpl.us aad depo~it it down on Troy Street so that we

would have the surplus there for the beginning of this snow

season which we are under right now. And the reason for

tha.t is that we paid for that material, and we had to store

it somewhe~e, and we stored it on Troy Street, and we felt

that before we would go ahead and order new sand and salt

that we would first consume the a~uount of sand and sa3.t that
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was down there on Troy Street first, and the reason for

that is that sometimes you get an accumulaiion of chunks

of sand and salt that freeze up and bind up, and as an end

product they jam up the spreading equipment so as an encl I

product we wanted to utili~e that sand and salt for the.

first storm and then after that, we would order -- we have

by the way set aside 4000 tons of sand and salt from Diam4n

Crystal, whi~h they have a contract and we have that set

aside and we have the mone~ set aside for it as we11 -- and

like I said, we usually would start off the season with

that supply, which we in~Cended to do, so we did fee1, and d'd

discuss 7.ong before, tha.t we ha.d an adequate supply there :.•~

for a regular storna. Now, if the storm would intensify,

I'm s~.re tha~ Diamond Crystal Salt, I think in two or three

hours notice, would make sand and salt available, de1i~

to our roller shed like it has been done in the past, and

I'm sure th~t we could have not consumed tha.t amount of

sand and salt in that short period of time, so we never did

deplete our supply of sand and salt.

Q. So this request by the Ma.yor and Mr. Ma.ncone came to you as

a complete surprise because it never happened before where

they requested this information?

A. Before it ha.s always been left in the hands of our

snow coordina.tor.
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Q. So it came as a surprise to you? ~

A, Yes, and I didn'~C know the ulti.mate purpose of him re-

questing this information because I am sure that Mr. Dam-

brosco has in the past 13 years, has been amply prepared

far any snowstorm a~ the beginning of the season.

THE PRESIDENT. Councilman A7m,agno.

BY MR. ALMAGNO•

Qo Mr. Cesaro, it says here that on November 17, you fail.ed to

provide written reports cancerning snow removal, rig`ht?

A. That~ what the report says, yes.

QD On the 17th, on a Monday, I heard about it, I guess ha.lf

of the people in the state must ha.ve heard about it, that

there was a storm approaching. Just hearsay from the news

; media. I noticed that the state ha.d their plows out,

~ they were ready -- wai.t a minute, don't look at me like

tha.t -- they were at strategic points where they usual.7.y

have them. ~Tow I heard, is it true or not, that we never

had a plow on a truck, come November 17?

A. You are right~

Q. You did nat have a plow on a truck November 17?

A. You are right.

Q. Is tliat your job, you, the Director?

A. Yes.

Q. Where do you -- I don't want to argue the point --
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A. Councilman, you asked me a question, I'm going to give

you an answer after; put the question to me.

Q. That's another question, Were the sanders a11 workable and

in operation?

A. Yes.

Q. They were a11 working?

TFiE WITNESS . The sanders ?

Lll~s C1LrIC1 s\ LY~. Rlg'i!'~♦

Ao Wlzen they are mount~d on a truck, the mechanics make

sure that if they weren't functional from the previous

season that they are brought back to mechanical operation9

~~3.

Qo They were a11 warking, right?

A. No, we did not know that: As they mount the sanders,

Councilman, they check them and if they are not functioning

they repair them, but when they get through mounting and

repairing, theri tha.t piece of equipment is ready to sand

and salta

Q. You mean to te11 me them sanders tha.t are broke down at the

end of the season, sit there in that garage a11 Summer,

broken down and you start to fi~ them in November? Is that

what you are Celling me?

A, Councilman, we do not evaluate the equipmeat at the

erid of the snow season and determine more or less what piec

~

es
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of equipment need repairs, but there are some that come --

that will have to be answered by Mr. Guy Zanni, he is the

mechanic, I'm not.

Q. You are the Director?

A. Right.

Q. You are the person T want to talk ~o, is you. Guy Zanni is

he's just, as far as I'm concerned, he is a gentleman and a

a matter of fact, he lives in my ward, absolute real gentle

man, but the only thi.ng I want is the question, the bottom

line is you are the boss, I want to come to you. This is

mq job; when mq people ca11 me, for snow removal, T try to

find out who is running the show, and you are supposed to

know the whole situation. You are just like in my business

if one of my customers asks me for something that pertains

to produce and I don't know i~, I'm in bad shape, so tha.t`s

a11 I want is a yes or no, and an answer, why this equip-

ment -- here we are in November, why they sti11 don't know

if it worlcs or not?

NIIt. CHAIKA. ~bjec~ion.

Q. Now, I have been around --

I~t. CHAIIiA. The Councilman started

asking about snow plows and never 1.e~C the witness finish

his answero

THE PRESIDENT. Let him fi.nish his ~,uest
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MR. ALMAGNO. He's looking at me as

though I don`t know what I am talking about.

THE PRESIDENT. He's capable of asking

a question. Overruled through the Chairo Ask your questio .

Qo Like I said, here we are, all Sunnmer, that equipment sits

in that garage and these men are too busy not to take care .

of this equipmento Let's give it the end of August, we

start checking this equipment out, I think if I was in

that business, which is your business, I think that equip-

ment should have been checked out before.

I~Ilte CHAI~A. Is there a question?

Q. e.,and I'd like to know, through the Chair, why this equip-

ment is -- why do we wait until there's a snowstorm to

check the equipment?

Ao Councilman, usually, a month before the snow season

is approaching, we put our mechanics on it to repair all

the equipment before it is mounted to put it in shape for

the snow season~ Is that understandable?

MR. ALMAGNO. Right.

A. o.oDue to the layoff, the men that normally would be

performing that duty, were no longer with us.

MR. ALMAGNO. Ahaa

A. ..,What's your argument now, Mr. Councilman?

Qo Wait a minute, no argument, my argument is whp do we have
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to wait until a month befvre the season starts?

A, This is the normal procedure.

Q. Are we busy all 3ummer? I thought the Winter was the busy

time for tlae mechanics?

A~ Councilman, in the past, a month in advance has been

plenty adequate to take care of putting the equipment in

shape for the up and coming snow season, and we have been

going on past practices.

QQ Okayo Another question. My fellow Councilman asked you if

it was a practice for the Mayor to ask you how much sa~d

and salt we had on hand, and you said there wasn't -- I

think you said it wasn't a practice for the Mayor to ca11

you and to ask you or send you a letter asking how much

salt and sand --

A. No, the previous request by the Mayor was, usually,

are we prepared for a snowstorcn for the up and coming snow

season and the answer would be yes, our men are effectively

preparing for the snow season, yes, that would be the ex-

tent of it. I'm sure, Councilman, that the Mayor -- and

he's been in office six years?

MR o ALMAGNO. Yesa

A,~ ,..I'm positive that he ha.s been exposed to the snow

operation, da you agree?

' MR. ALMAGNO. Absolutely.
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Ae Do you think just like you are demanding me to offer

you an explanation --

~ MR. ALMAGNOm Hold it, hold it. I am

not demanding, I'm asking. Let's get this straighto

Ao Fine, Counc~].a►an, I stand correcteda Don't you think

the Chief Executive fr~r the City of Providence.should also

know what the current snow operation is after six years in

office.

Qo Yes, I think he does, but maybe he just wants to make sure,

that he wants to check it out?

A~ I'm sure the Mayor is concerned and I'm deeply con-

cerned as we110

Qo And if I may ask you one more question. I thought I heard

you ~ay, tha.t the snow removal program we ha.ve is obsolete?

Ae What was that?

Q, The way we function, the snaw --

A. I said for the record, that for the past 13 years, the

snow operational plan has been functional, it has coped wit

most every storm that could be hwnanly coped with, with the

personnel we had and the equipment we had and the super-

vision we had, which is the able-bodied supervision of Mr.

Ernest Dambrosco and his co-ordinator, Mr. Peter Cannellas.

'. That's what I have said, and for the record, do you realize
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these people -- I have only a year and a half service --

do you realize these people become professionals in that

line of work and are better qualified than you, myself,

and the Maqor, to coordinate that oper~tion? Do you agree

Ori t~lclt?

MR, ALMAGNO. Maybe, I wouldn't say no.

THE WITNESS. Thank you.

Mtt. ALMAGNO. I guess they should be

after all them years, they should be.

THE WITNESS. Thank you.

MR. ALMAGNO. That's all for now.

BY MR. PEARLMAN~

Q. Mr. Cesaro, I understood you to say when you testified at

the last meeting that you went somewhere after 6:00 to

12:00 the evening, Monday evening, in questiono I'd like t

know, you said you went somewhere on personal business?

A. Yes.

Q. But you never told us, as far as I recall, where you were?

Aa Councilman, do you feel that I have a personal life of

my own, that I am entitled to a personal life?

Q. Not if there is a pending snowstorm.

A. True.

Q. That's your obligation to be on ca11?

Aa But there was no threat and there was no possible
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major threat, and I was not assessed of any threat by the

normal procedure by which I am going to explain later in

my report.

Q~ Do you have an objection telling us where you were during

that time? ~

A. During what time?

Q. Between 6:00 PoM. to 12 midnight?

Ao I left my hause, I believe, somewhere around 9:30.

Q d From 9: 30 to 12 ?

Ao At 9:30 I had personal business which involves a

personal problem and I don't think it is proper that I hav~

to discuss that in public, because it did not pertain to

the City of Providence's business, and I was not performin~

any duties that I was expected to be performing in that

particular time, and I'm entitled to my privacy of mq own

personal lifem

THE WITNESS. Mr. Pearlman, can I ask

you a question?

THE PRESIDENT. You are not supposed to.

MR. PEARLMAN. Why not?

THE WITNESSO We are here for clarifi-

cation for the sake of the taxpaqers, is that correct?

MR. PEARLMAN. Right.

THE WITNESS. Can I ask you a question?
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objection?

THE PRESIDENT. You are not supposed to.

THE WITNESS. Can I have your permission

MR. PEARLMAN. I have no objection.

THE PRESIDENT. Anybody else have any

MR. SNOWDEN. I do.

THE PRESIDENT. You can't ask the ques-

tion~ Anybody else want to question Mro Cesaro. If one

person objects, you can't ask the question. Any other

questions?

BY MR. DILLON:

Q. Wha.t was it like last year when the Mayor asked for a snow

removal plan? Didn't he ask for one last year and what was

the extent of that request?

A. Counci7,man, the snow operational plan has been con-mi

sistent -- we11, let me clarify that. As far as I'm con-

cerned, it was set into action a good many years ago, and

that same plan has been executed year after year, and as an

end product, the Mayor, after six years, I'm sure was fu11y

acquainted with that operational planm

Q. Yes, but this year, he senC you a letter and he asked you

over the tielephone to have the plan ready, he didn't ask

that 1a5t year?

Aa He did note
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Q. How about -- what was the basic relationship? Had the

Mayor ever, before he suspended you in the Summert une, had

he ever brought you in and said, 'Clem, there's some thing

in the Department of Public Works that I don't thinlc are.

right, and I want you to take~care of them.' Had he ever

done tha.t?

A. No, absolutely not. I have offered my cooperation

with the Ma.yor, in spite of him attempting to suspend me

the last ti.me, I made it public, I felt I had an obligatio

to the taxpayers of the City of Providence. Aside from

all the inuendvs about politics and everything e1se, I too~

an oath of office to perform the duties that I am expected

to perform and I intend to do so regardless of politics or

I anything else. I intend to do the job that I took the oat

of offiee for.

Q. Does he bring you in for the budgets, does he bring you in

on a regular basis and evaluate the performance?

A. No, he doesn't0 There's been no co~nunication betwee

, the Mayor and myself.

Q. Is that since the Suttnmertime?

A. I don't want to saq -- I would make myself available,

whenever he would request it, but no requests were ever

made upon me.

I~ Q. Is that since the Summertime or was tha.t the case from the
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, time you took office, that you never had a very personal ;

relationship with the Mayor, he never brought you in --

A. No, before the problems that started to develop be-

tween the Mayor and myself, before that time, we seemed to

have many meetings with his various people, his various

sCaff, and we also came in and discussed many things in

the past, and whenever they called upon me, that was my

job, I had to come in and give them an intelligent evalua-

tion when they asked me questions. That's part of my re-

sponsib ility.

Q, But they did that before and after the Summertime, w hen you

first were suspended, it stopped?

A, There was no more communications.

Mlt. MANSOLILLO. Mr. President,

THE PRESIDENT. Councilman Glavin,

BY MR . GL~AVIN :

Q. I was going to delay questioning until after we allowed Mr.

Cesaro to make his presentation. It seems tha.t we are goin,

to continue this line, so I know we are getting close to

' breaking, but I want to clari.fy something, I believe Coun-

cilman Dillon, Mr. Cesaro, just asked you if the Mayor ever,

called you in to ask you or to consult with you about any

~ problems in Public Works and I believe you said, and I will

try to quote -- "No, he didn't," am I correct?
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A. Yes.

Q. During the recent period of trouble in the Public Works

Department, the disclosures about excessive overtime and

people coming up on no-show jobs, the Mayor never called

you in and asked you about that?

A. That particular ti.me, most of our correspondence --

most of our communications came directly with executive

orders telling me e~ctly what he expected, The only time

he comm~unicated with me at that particular time, as I re-

ca11 now, you are asking me to research my mind for an ex-

tensive length of t une, but I think at the particular time

where that was under controversy and there was quite a bit

of comments, I spoke to the Mayor on the phone relative to

l.t.

Qa I just, you know, you are under oath, I'm not making ac-

cusations, don't get me wrong.

A. I know.

Q. If I remember the events correctlq, I thought there was a

circumstance, several circumstances, where he summoned you

to his office, if I'm not mistaken, you came on more than

one occasiori to discuss specifically the excessive over-

t i.me ?

A. You know Councilman, not to interrupt you, I don't

like the statement that I was summaoned. Am I a public ser

vant?
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Q. I believe the Mayor is your direct superior?

A. Yes.

THE PRESIDENT. Cut, 6:OOm

(RECON~iENED AT 7:50 P.M.)

I~OI:L"_'CAI;L:: .'~ YPxesident Fargnoli : Here o
Mr. Addison: Here.
Mr. Almagno: Absent.
Mr. Boy1e: Absent.
Ms. Brassil: Here.
Mr. Cirelli: Absent.
Mr. Cola: Absent.
Mr. Di11on: Absent.
Mr. Easton: Absent.
Mr. Farmer: Present.
Mr. Flynn: Here.
Mr. Glavin: Here.
Mr. Griffin; Absenta
Mr. Johnson: Absent.
Mr. Lynch: Absenta
Mr. Mansolillo: Absent.
Mr. Moise: Here.
Mr. 0'Connor: Here.
Mr. Paolino: Here.
Mr. Pearlman: Hereo
Mr. Pennine: Here.
Mr. Petrosinelli: Here.
Mr. Salvatore: Here~
Mr. Snowden: Here.
Mr. Stravato: Herep
Mr. Xavier: Absent.

THE PRESIDEIJTm Fifteen present, eleven

absent, we have a quorum.

We have to wait for Councilman Glavin to get back here

He was the last one. Councilman Glavin, will you proceed.

MEt. GLAVIN. If I could ask the stenog-

rapher to read back my last question.

(LAST QUESTION AND ANSWER READ
FROM PRE~IIOUS SESSION)
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Q. If I remember correctly, I was following the line of ques-

tioning that Councilman Di11on had asked you relating to

whether the Mayor on previous occasions had requested you

or consulted with you regarding matters of your department,

and at that time you had gone~on ~he record as saying no,

he hadn't, and i followed with a line of questioning, with

the incident, or sha11 I say incidents, controversial as

they were in regards to no-show people working at the De-

partment of Public Works, and a great deal of excessive

overtime, were you not s~ned on one or two other oc-

casions to the Mayor's office to discuss these matters,

and I think that's what we were talking about, before we

were cut off. So it was my recollection, tha.t based upon -

THE PRESIDENT. I was just informed the

the Counsel Piccirilli will be a].ittle late, so we have to

stop our proceedings.

MR. GLAVIN. In other words, it's five

of 8:00 --

five-minute recess.

Mr. Piccirilli is.

THE PRESIDENT. So we'll have to take a

l~t. CHAIKA. Mr. Rotella is here,

MR. ROTELLA. I am not acting as counsel

MR. CHAIKA. Why then is he sitting ins
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the bar of the Council Chambers?

THE PRESIDENT. We have others too that

are sitting in the Council Chambers. Do you want him re-

moved out of the Council Chambers?

MR. CHAIRA. Does he have an official

presence? If he does, he should go forward and be prepare

If he doesn't, he should leavem

MR. SNOWDEN. He has no right to state

who sits on this floor.

MR. GLAVIN. Not to ~Cake sides, but this

is a Council hearing, he is a member of the City Solicitor

staff, I would assume under the rules of the Counci]. he has

every right to be in the Council Chambers.

MR. CHAII~A. My client has constitutiona

rights, we have been here since 7:30, ready to proceed.

Why are we waiting? There's no excuse for his being late.

THE PRESi~ENT. We`11 find out when he

comes in what the excuse is.

MR. ~:Ni4~S~~-.' ~May :I change the rules , vote by

absentee ballot.

THE PRESIDENT. We are at ease.

(COUNCIL AT EASE 7:55 to 8:10 .M.)

THE PRESIDENT. C1erk, recall the rolla

ROLL CALL: President Fargnoli: Hereo
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Mr~ Addison: Here.
Mr. Almagno: Absent.
Mr. Boyle: Absent.
Ms. Brassil: Here,
Mr. Cirelli: Absent.
Mr. Cola: Absento
Mr. Dillon: Here.
Mr. Eas~on: Here.

~ Mr. Farmer : iiere .
Mr. Flynn: Here.
Mr. Glavin: Here.
Mr. Griffin: AbsenC.
Mr. Johnson: Absent.
Mr. Lynch: Absent.
Mr. Manso1i11o: Here.
Mr. Moise: Here.
Mr. 0'Connor: Absent.
Mr. Paolino: Here.
Mr. Pesr].man: Here,
Mr, Peanine: Here.
Mr. Petroainelli: Here.
Mr. Salvatore: Here.
Mr. Snowden: Here.
Mr. Stravato: Aere.
Mr. Xa.vie~: Absent.

(MR. ALMAGNO IS RECORDED AS
SEING PRESENT)

MRa ALMAGNO. Thank you.

TI~ PRESIDENT. Eighteen present, eight

absent, we have a quorum. Councilman Glavin.

I~IIt. GLAVIPT. On~ more time o

THE PRESIDENT. One more time.

(I~i. 0' CONNOR RECORDED AS
PRESENT) ,

; BY MR. GLAVIN:

I Q. Mro Cesaro, Z believe we know why we are here, and do you

'~ want me to re-ask the question again?
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THE WITNESS. Yes.

I~Ilt. GLAVIN. I would ask the steno

to read back the last question before the interruptionm

(PAGE 3-59, QUESTION 1 READ
BACK)

Am I thiak, Counciiman, I answered that question. As far

as I recol2ect all my thoughts, yau must appreciate, that

T wanted to te11, as accurate a staCement as I possibly

can, in all good conscience, I can relate to the situation

about the overtime issue, and most of the commca.nications

and my communication with the Mayor was by phone conversa-

tion at the particular ti,me. That's what I recollect.

The reason I asked that, Clem, is because I was just follo~

ing the trai.n of thought that T~hink ha.d been established

by two of my Counciimen. I tha.nk they were trying to estab

lish a position -- at least it was my impression that theq

were trying to establish a position -- that it was an un-

usual set of circumstances for the Mayor to request certain

things of you, and it just seemed to me that thae was one

par~icular instance tha.t I remembered where I thought most

categorically you had come to the Mayor's office, I had

remembered you being on TV, or whatever, the Mayor susmtton-

ing you to his office, you bringing a list of overtime,

employees that were authorized to receive overtime, etceter;
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etcetera, etcetera, and al~ I was trying to do is set the

record straight for your behalf because you~c answer to the

negative the fact tha.t qou had not been svaunoned to the

Ma.yor's office, he ha.d not involved you in what you call

strategy sessions, whatever, pertaining to your department.

A. The last time you are talking about when he suspended

me, if you recall, and going back, as I recollect, he made

a formal request in writing to me and I had to comply with

that request that he made. It was all done, as I recollect

in writing, there was no contact between the Mayor and my-

self outside of the conversation he had with me I think on

one or two occasions over the phone, but never where T went

into his office relative to tha.t, the overtime issue.

Q. That's what I was trying to determine, because seeing that

two of my Brother Councilmen were trying to establish, in

my opinion, the fact that yau were not involved in circum-

stances where t~ie Mayor would ca11 you in and ask you cer-

tain questions relative to your department, and I just felt

it was my knowledge:.ft was; so in that particular circum-

stance you did?

A. Many occasions to just clarify further, the Ma.yor on

many occasions found it necessary to deliver his communica-

tions, or letters, to me utilizing the Providence Police

Department as a courier for his questions, which I thought
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the City Sergeant -- maybe I'm incorrect -- but I thought

the City Sergeant was supposed to perform those duties,

usually.

Q. That's a question I can't answer.

A. But I just want to relate on numerous occasions, he

ha.d sent the Providence Police Department to either deliver.

some order, some request of his, and he always did it, it

seems continuously, with the services of the Police Depart-

ment.

Q. Another question I wanted to ask, Mr. Cesaro, as the Direct

or of the Department of Public Works, normally since the

time tha.t you have held that position, is there an estab-

lished time when snow plows are affi~d to cars or trucks,

I should say, I'm sorry, a.nd spreading ma.chines are also

put in the trucks. In other words, is there a specific da

or period of time in which you would say, 'Okay, whoever

would be the second in command, or third in cammand, today

is so and so, are all the plows affix,ed to the trucks, are

the spreaders on the backs of the trucks operationa.l, fille

with salt, sand, or whatever.' You know, based upon since

t'he ti.me you have been Department of Public Works Director,

is there a specific date where I would think -- I would

think -• offhand there shouid be some type of timeframe

when it would be done?
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A. Yes, I usuaXly leave that -- they're usually set up

to prepare the necessary -- repair the plows, and repair

saading equipment. They normally perform those services,

and they don't ha.ve to wait for the Director of Public

Works to te11 them to perforna those services.

Q. Wha,t I'm aski.xig, ~.s t~iere a specific ti.me or date when tl~

is normally done?

A. Usually, a month in advance of the anticipated snow

season.

Q. When is that?

A. I would say a month before the present situation we

have right now.

Q. So you would state then based upon -- I'm not trying to

put words in your mouth -- then normally, on November 17,

the plows should ha.ve been on the trucks and the spreaders

should ha.ve been on the trucks, bq your own testimonp?

Ao No. Let me clari.fy tha.t.

Q. Thafi's what I'm trying to find out.

A. The plows are never put on trucks until we get the

first snowstorm. We do not travel arovnd with the tirucks

with the plows on them because we may noti get a snowstorm.

So only when we are involved and we know that we got a

storm that's coming and it is going to be over two and one-

half,:.maybe two to two and one-half inches, because the
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Q. Advance of what, a,mpending snow season?

A. Yes, impending snow season.

Q. I'm not trying to belabor the point, but do ~ou have a date

I would assume come first of December or a certain part of

December, you would say, 'We're in the snoW seasan.'

A. I'd ha.ve to check that aut specifically. You're ask~

ing for a specific date.

Q. We11 no, approximately?

A. And rather than me make a false statement, I can ~heck

that out, but I leave that entirely up to Mr. Guy Zaflni wlio

is in charge of the equipment, and he knows the approachi.ng

season is fast approaching and he is already making the
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necessary preparations ~o make sure that tha.t equipment

is in readiness.

Q. Okay, do you feel, as the Director of ~he Department of

Public Works, tha.t on November 17, 1980 there should have

been in place, if not the snow plows on the trucks, at

least the spreading machines on the trucks in the Depart-

ment of Ptixblic Works?

A. That is right. There should have been 15 trucks

maunted with sanding equipment.

Q. As the Director of the Department of Public Works, why t..~

weren't these 15 trucks mounted with sanding equipment?

Ao Because of the layoff, I did not have the mechanics

to perform the nec~e~ssary services required by these mecha.n

ics to put those trucks in order, and by the way, for the

record, I previously knew this and there is a le~ter of

record which will be presented to you, clearly stating tha

I realized that we needed more mechanics, and I tried to

put me~hanics back into action that were la.id off, because

I anticipated the problem of not having the sanding equip-

ment ready for the snow season, and by the way, the Per-

sonnel Director rescinded my request.

Qo A11 right, seeing that the layoff question continues to

up in your testimony, Mro Cesaro, after the layoffs were

effectuated, how many mecha.nics were you left with?
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A. H,ow many mechanics was I left with to perform the

services --

Q. How many mechanics were you ].eft with?

THE WITNESS. In the entire departmen~?

MR. GLAVIN. Yes.

A. You must clarify tha~, Mr. Glavin, for the simple

reason WC.' ~Ve IIt@Ci3~.rilCS --

Q, In the Department of Publ.ic Highways?

A. Let me go a step further because intelligently to give

you the honest answer, you must know where these mechanics

are utilized in the department. We ha.ve mechanics that are

utilized in the Sanitation Department that are constantly

keeping those trucks in service; we have mecha.nics also

working on automobiles and other pieces of equipment in

~I the Municipal Garage; we have ne chanics that are solely

supposed to be performing the services of mounting the

~ sanding equipment, and I think there were somewhere in the

vicinity of eight mechanics involvedm

~ Q. Tf I can ask you a question based upon your recent state-

ment, I was l~ d to believe by what you just said, you have

certain mechanics tha.t just put work on spreaders and putti

on snow plows ?

A. They are prepared to perform that service; in the past

that's a11 they have been doing.
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Q. So wha.t do those mecha.nics do in the Summer?

A. What, please?

Q. What do those mecha.nics do in the Sumaner?

A. Other services, too far for me to attempt ~o enumeratel

for these people this eveninge ~I

Q. Is there any reason why -- we are going around in circles

here. Is there any reason why whatever remaining mechanics

you had, whether they be one, or a hundred, could not have

performed the basic duties of, one, rnounting and i.nstalling

~khe spreaders on the trucks, and number two, if and when

the appropriate time deemed necessary, mount and place the

snow plows on the trucks? Is there any reason why the

remaining mechanics you had could not perform those func-

tions ?

Ao Yes, because they were performing other functions like

keeping garbage trucks running, also keeping your vehicles

running, and your other trucks running, that were in the

Municipal Garage. They were daing those services. If you

pu11 them away, Mr. Glavin, if you pu11 them away from

those services that they were providing, we wouldn't have

the garbage trucks out on ~he road and we wouldn't ha.ve

other vehicles out on the road.

Q. I wi11 continue along this line of questioning. On the

average, to your knowledge, as Director of Public Works,
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how long does it take, and how many men does it take, to

install the spreader on the back of the truck?

AQ Usuallq two men, two mechanicso

Qa Do you know how long a period of time?

A. Tha.t is solely -- ~

Q. Approxim~ately?

A. Councilman, that is solely dependent upon the condi-

tion of the spreader that is being mounted, if it has to

go in~o extensive repairs, there's no fixed ti.me for mount

ing a piece of equipment. It's dependent upon the condi-

rion of the piece of equipment.

Q. According to your previous testimony, and you can confirm

or deny this as I ask the question, according to published

x`eports, that evening of November 17, even~ually during

the course of the evening, four spreaders were mounted

and became operational on four trucks, is tha.t or is that

noti correct?

A. That's correc~. There were four trucks available,

mounted with sanding equipment on ite

Q. Can I ask you, to the best of your knowledge, how long a

period of time did that take and how many mechanics were

involved?

A. I ha.ve no idea. You are asking me right now, how

much time was devoted to put those four pieces of equipmen ,
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mounted on the -- I have no idea, but I can get that infor-

~ativn from Mr.Guy Zanni who is in charge of that, he's ~he

head of that department.

Q. The reason I ask this is because I am trying to establish

something.

A. I understand.

Q. We're saying on one hand we don't know how many mecha.nics,

it takes two mechanics, we don't know how long it takes

them because of the amount of possible repair tha.t ma.y be

necessary to these sanders, and at the same ti.me we're say-

ing on November 17, prior to a~certain ~eriod of time that

we haven't really established, no trucks had any spreaders

on them, no trucks had any plows, and then in the same

breath we're saying eventually four trucks were fitted with

spreaders, and i'm trying to fiad out if and why, or why

not, based upon the personnel that was left reaaaining after

the layoffs, why these trucks could not have been fitted

with spreaders and plows in ample enough t3.me to do some

type of basic job with the impending snowstorm, snow squa.~.l

or wha.tever you want to call it, and from wha.t I'm he$ring

so far, this is my op~.nion for the record, and I'm not try-

ing to badger you Mr. Cesaro, but it's not correlating.

We're saying one thing on one hand and another thing on

another ha.nd, aad I'm trying to establish some type of basi~
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pateern.

MR. CHAIKA. Objection, for the record.

There's no testimony at a11 at any particular time tha.t

there were no trucks equipped with sanding equipment.

THE PRESIDENT. Overruledo Continueo

MR. GLAVIN. I wi11 let Mr. Cesaro answe

Ao Counci],man, shortness of ha.nds means shortness of per-

fornma.nce of work. Do you agree?

MR. GLAVIN. In certain circvmstances.

THE WITNESS. Come on, Councilman,

let's be honest, for the recordo

MR. GLAVIN. Mr. Cesaro.

THE WiTNESS . 3tao ha.nds can provide so

many work.

Q. The whole subject of this heari.ng is we haven't es~ablished

how many hands were there, whether they were short or long?

A. Counci.lman, i prefer you address that question ta Mr.

Guy Zanni who is in cha.rge of the imple~entation of ~Che

sanding equipment on the trucks, and do you consider him th

professional in tha.t line of work.

NIIt. GLAVIN. I don't know Mr. Zanni, I

know nothing about Mr. Zanni -- we11, Z am not answering

your questions, T'm here to ask you questions. Let's get

one thing straight.
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TI~ WITNESS. Fine.

M].2. GLAVIN. Don't get me wrong, I'm

trying to treat you with courtesy, I'm just trying to es-

tablish facts, nothing more than, I am not trying to cast

any a5persions towards you or anything else.

Q. Based upon your testimony, there are a 1ot of things that

don't correlate and I`m trying to find out what was the ,

facts. Mr. Zanni, if he is indeed gaing to be a witness,

I wi11 ask hi.m his questions, but the bottom line is you

are indeed the Director of the Department, you ghould knowll

all these things, I shouldn't know them, that's why we ha.ve

you.

A. I asked Mr. Zanni why we got behind and he specifical

told me because of the layoffs, he did not have the manpow

MR. GLAVIN. Okay fine, now we are s~ar

ing to get back on rhe right track.

THE WTTNESS. Good.

I~9.2 . GLAVIN . Thank you .

Q. Let me ask you another question. You stated in response

, to a previous inquiry you didn't know about the impending

snowstorm per se until about 9:30 P.M., is that correct?

i A. You shot tha.t at me too fast.

I' Q. I'm sorry, you stated previously, I don't remember exa.etly

who asked you, that you did not know about the impending
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snowstorm until approximately 9:30 P.M. that evening, is

that correct?

A, Tha.t's about right.

Q. Oka.y fine, now, can I ask you, when you found out about the

impending snowstorm, what did yau, as Di.rector of the De-

partment of Public Works, do in relationship to ha.ndling

thiS Situation?

A. Cov.ncilman, I repeat for the record, I ha.ve answered

that question already.

Q. I don'fi believe so.

A. I don't think we should rerun --

Q. I am not trying to do tha.t.

A. The question was put to me before and I explained it

very clear3.y the functions of the snow removal operation

and tha.t there were many many other forecasts that come in

during the time that I was the Director, and tha.t those

forecasts, we could take sometimes very seriously and some-

ti.mes theq didn't amount to nothing, and I told you that th

system that's devised is triggered by the dispatcher. I

don't think I shotild go over this questioning.

Q. I am not trying to make you repeat yourself, I am trying to

clarify something. In my opinion, I'm no~ clear upon your

previous answera Let me state an opin~.on -- or 1et me ask

you a question as you have asked me a couple of questionsa
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~Do you think it is reasonable if you are the Director of a,

department, charged with handling ~ snow emergency or a

snow situ~tion, whichever terminology you'd like to use,

tha.t it would be responsible for pou to simply -- not sit

back, I don't want to use that word -- but sha11 we say,

take the assumption that because in previous situa.tions th~

dispatcher has handled situations of this nature which you

previously outlined, that you as a director would not chec~

to see that certain situations or provisions have not beeM

made to combat a possible existing snowstorm?

A. Councilman, if I had to check every one of my divis

heads and every one of my men to see that they were perfo

ing their duties properly, there would be no time in the

day for me to accomplish the duties tha.t I am, supposedly

as the director, supposed to be performing, can you appre-

ciate ~hat?

Q. Not in relationship to a snowstorm,_no I can't. A situa-

tion like a snow emergency, snowstorm, is a unique occur-

rence, doesn't happen every day, Mrm Cesaroa I'm not tryin

to scold you or te11 you how to run your departrnent, I don'

want you to get tha.t impressioa, but I would think it would

be only common and an accepted practice for any head of any

department under a certain situation, to make sure a11 nec

essary preparations were indeed taken care o€o And very
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simple, whether it be by telephone, personal appearance or

whatever, that you would check with the people who are

cha.rged wi~h certaia responsibilities, and make s~re that

things are adeqvately prepared and then you can go about

your other business. Do you agree or don't you agree?

A. No, I don't agree, and I think at this point in time,

that I should start making some of the facts available, so

that everybody here can intelligently know the functions

of that department so that you or anybody else here do not

have to bring up the same questions and I would have to

answer you 5~ mil,lion times.

Q. I can appreciate that, the only reason I am asking --

A. Now I think everybody is here for an intended purpose

to get the facts, Z think it is about time that I start to

present the ~acts, and if we continue with this 1ine, and

I have to continuously answer your questions, it is not

going to satisfy a11 these people that make their presence

here, that want to know the true facts, and if thi.s Counci7

would permit me the opportur~ity to go from the point of be-

ginning, present my case, then I wi11 only be too happy to

listen to your questions.

Q. I can appreciate ~hat, but unfortunately the Council has

already set a precedent by continuing this line of ques-

I tioning, and the only reason I'm asking the~e questions
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is because, in my opinion, you haven't answered them before,

not to my personal satisfaction. I'm not trying to casfi

inuendo in your regard, I'm just trying to find out facts

period, nothing e1se. Vezy si.mple. That's all I'm trying

t0 d0.

Ao Any other questions that you want. Do you have any

other quest~i:ons, I'll be only too happy to answer.

MR. GLA~iIN . Okay f ine . At this po int

in time I see that we seem ~o -- I think you are mistaking

my intentions in this matter, and I personally feel tha.t

my Zine of questioning would not be we11 served, and T wi11,

you know, rest, if you so say.

THE WITNESS. Please, I don't want to

offend you, Councilman.

MR. GLA~iIN. Not at allm I can under-

stand. I only ask questions that I want answers to and

the only reason I'm asking because I don't f eel in my

personal opinion they were answered to my p ersonal satis-

faction properly before. I am not saying you are trying t

avoid the issue, don't get that impression.

THE WITNESS. I don't think I made any

move in that direction.

MR. GLAVIN. I think under the circvm-

stances, I notice by other Councilmen's ques~ion~ you keep
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ailuding to the fact you'd like to make your presentation.

I think if all the Councilmen withheld their questions

until you make your presentation and we can go from there.

BY MR. STRAVATO:

Qo Mr. President and members of the Council, Mr. Cesaro, am I

correct that in a very short period of time you were sus-

pended twice by the Mayor?

Aa Yes.

Q. Under the Mayor's own presentation under oath he admitted

that the first suspension was palitically motivated. After

listening -- I'm going to lead to a question -- to the

Mayor's testimony, very documented, like every second of

of his time from 4;00 on the 17th to the wee hours of the

morning on the 18th, it appears to me that there may be

some political overtone in this suspension. My question to

you would be, what were your activities, I would say, from

like 4:00 on the 17th of November to the wee hours of the

morning on the 18th?

T~iE WITNESS . What were my duties ?

Q. What were your activities, what did you do from that period

of time up until the wee hours of the morning on the 18th?

A. I was performing the duties that I thought were as-

signed to me as the Director of Public Works, and I was

doing the best I could with the circumstances I was faced

with.
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Q. What did you do in that period of time?

THE PRESIDENTa I think he established

that beforea

MR. STRAVATO. What I am trying to do is

ha.ve him give us his presentation of what he did for that

period of time,

MR. GLAVIN. Point of order, I asked the

same exact question, except I cut down the hours, and Mr.

Cesaro did not want to answer on the grounds of ~~epeta.tion,

and I delayed any further questions on the ground we were

going to a11ow Mrm Cesaro to explain his story. I think we

should allow it to happen and any questions tha.t should

eome to bear then we should ask them then.

Q. I ask Mre Cesaro tha.t you give your presentation, what took

place from 4:00, what you did until the wee hours of the

I morning on the 18th?

A. I think briefly, certain Cou.ncilmen have been asking

me questions and have brought up certain questions that I

have offered them just segments of, but I think it is about

ti.me, that I --

Qo Mro Cesaro, my question is, please, what you did from, say,

4:00 on the 17th of November until those wee hours of the

morning on the 18th, what took place? Tha,t's wha.t I am

asking you. That's my question.
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MR. PICCIRILLT. Mr. President.

THE PRESIDENT~ Now, you want him to

give his presentation?

l~to STRAVATO. That's what I am asking.

MR. PICCIRILLI. I object to that. I

haven't presented the balance of my casee

THE PRESIDENT. That's right t000

MR. STRAVATO. I have the floor, Mr.

Presidentm Now my question --

THE PRESIDENT. Ask the questions.

MR. STRAVATO. My question to I~Irr. Cesaro

and it is a question, and I am asking you to answer, what

he did on November 17, from say 4:00 P.M. until the wee

hours of the morning on the 18th, that's my question, and I

expect Mr. Cesaro to answer it.

MR. PICCTRILLI. I have no objection to

the question being asked and answered provided it is not

deemed to be part of Mr. Cesaro's presentation. I haven't

finished my Direct case yet. I have many witnesses, I have

tapes I want to p1ay. There's an awful lot I want to do

and I don't want this hearing aborted or terminated soon --

MR. STRAVATO. I have the floor and I

have a question before Mr. Cesaro and I expect him to answe

lt.
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THE PRESIDENTe You are still on the

floor and you have the right to ask the questionso After

he gets through I will call on you.

THE WITNESS. The only way to answer

this entirely is to answer in its entirety, Councilman, so

that these gentlemen arid everybody else concerned wi11 get

the true picture of what transpired during that crucial

time. That's what you are asking me, is that correct?

MR. STRAVATO. Yes.

MR. PICCIRILLI. Mr. President, I want a

ruling from the Chair, is thzs considered part of Mr. Ces-

aro's pre~entation or is it merely considered an answer to

a Councilman's inquiry?

THE PRESiDENT. it is an answer.

t9.t. PICCIRILLI. Merely an answer to the

Councilman's inquiry?

THE PRESIDEAIT. Yesa

MR. PICCIRILLI. Thank you, I have noth-

ing further.

I~t. STRAVATO. If I sit down I won't

lose the floor?

THE PRESIDENT. Go ahead. Definitely no

A. On November 13, 1980 --

MR. PICCIRILLI. I am going to object.
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I thought the question was from the 17th to the 18th.

THE PRESIDEI3T. We want to know from

17th at 4:00 in the afternoon, until the 18th, that was

questiono '

A. ao.I wi11 start here. This will bring us around 4:00,

I was at the Board of Contract meeting Monday afternoon,

November 17, 1980, at City Ha11, from 2:00 to approximately

4:00 P.M. and returned to my office at approximately 4:10.

When I returned, no messages to call the Mayor was left

with my secretary. However, I relate to "See Item Number 3

a ca11 at 4:15."

I~Ilt. PICCIRILLI. Would the stenographer

read back the last part of the answer?

(ANSWER READ)

Ao ..mThis is a letter dated November 14, 1980, Friday,

at 3;05, on that day, which requested additional items of

information to be supplied to his office, that's the Mayor

office, by Monday, November 17, 1980 bq 4;30~ On November

17, 1980, at 4:15, I was in receipt of a phone call from

the Mayor's secretary, asking if the requested -- remember

this time, 4:15 -- asking if the requested information out

lined in the letter dated November 14, 1980, would be de-

livered by 4:30. I informed the Mayor's secretarq, we had

all the information requested in the November 14, 1980
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letter ready, with the exception of the volumes of sand

and salt in our Troy Street location. Tha.t will complete

the information requested. i told her that complete in-

forma.Cion would be in their office by the next morning.

At this point and time, I discussed it with Mrm Lembo, and

he said -- bp the way Mra Lembo is my Deputy Director --

and he said he would check it on his way home tha.t day so

that we could have the complete in£ormation requested by

the next morninge For the record, Item Number 3, once

again, in the November 13, 1980 letter regarding snow re-

moval contracts negotiated, one of the items requested, ne-

gotiated and remaining to be negotiated and signed, the

key man Peter Cannellas was laid off that was responsible

for getting these contracts signed, and he --

MR. SNOWDEN. Mr. President, I think if

I recall, the question was, what did this gentleman do, no

who said who was laid off, but his actions, and I don't

feel that what Mr. Cesaro is responding to are his actions.

If he were dealing raith a letter, then tha.t is part of his

actions. I d on't believe we want to know every graphic de-

tail of what is in the letter, what his thoughts were, what

his anticipations were. I agree with the Councilma.n, we'd

like to know whatfas actions were and what his time ac

` 24 ability is, but I don't know as I agree with the reading
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of a statement, since the Mayor was challenged from read-

ing from notes and a dissertation on who was laid off and

who wasn't,

MR. CHAIKA. I'd like to point out the

Mayor was challenged but certainly not stopped from read-

ing the notes.

MR. PICCIRILLTa Along those lines, I'd

like to examine the notes, as Ma.yor's counsel. I'd like t~

examine Mr. Cesaro's notes.

THE PRESTDENT. You are entitled to it.

NIIt. PICCIRILLI. Thank you. May I see

the other also ?

THE WITNESS. I am not reading from it.

MR. PICCIRILLI. I will give that to

your attorney so you won't read from it. Ma.y I ha.ve a

moment? May I suggest a ten or 15-minute break, these

notes are extensive.

~IOICE. He should have been here at 7:3 m

THE PRESIDENT. The Council wi11 stiay

at ease.

please.

(RECESS 8:45 TO 8;55)

THE PRESIDENT. C1erk, ca11 the ro11

ROLL CALL: President Fargnoli: Here.
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Mr. Addison: Here.
Mr. Almagno: Here.
Mr. Boy1e: Here.
Ms. Brassil: Here.
Mr. Cirelli: Absent.
Mr. Co1a: Absent.
Mr. Di11on: Hereo
Mr. Easton: Here.
Mr. Farmer: Here.
Mr. F1ynn: Hereo
Mr. Glavin: Here.
Mr. Griffin: Absent.
Mr. Johnson: Absento
Mr. Lynch: Absen~.
Mr. Mansolillos Hereo
Mr. Moise: Hereo
Mr. 0'Connor: Here.
Mr. Paolino: Here.
Mr. Pearlman: Absent.

~ Mr. Pennine: Here.
Mr. Petrosinelli: Here.
Mr. Salvatore: Here.
Mr. Snowden: Here.
Mr. Stravato: Herem
Mr. Xavier: Absent.

THE PRESIDENT. Nineteen ~resent, se~ren

absento We ha.ve a quorum. Counselor, is everything sa~is-

factory?

MR. PICCIRILLI. Mr. President, I just

wanted the members of the Council to be aware of the fact

that these are not notes but in fact a nine or ten page

presentation. I would ha.ve no objection for those notes

being copied and ha.nded out to the members of ~he Council

for their perusal, and whatever ti.me they want to, but if

the witness is going to read from the notes, the notes

should be admitted into evidence. If he is going to testi
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thing else. So I really don't know whether the witness

intends to read from the notes or testify using the notes

to refresh hi~ recollection. I'd ask that question.

MR. CHAIKA~. Tf I can be heardo Mr,

Piccirilli was given great latitude the first day of the

hearing where he was allowed to not only introduce exhibits

into evidence, but also to allow the Mayor or hunself read
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Mit . PICC IRILLI . I cbn' t ha.ve any ob j ec -

tion to that, because the documents the Mayor read from

were introduced into evidence. Tha.t's a11 I am suggesting.

If the witness wa~ts to read from tha.t document, introduce

it, as we introduced our documents, and then he may read

from ito He ma.y read it v~rbatim.

THE PRESIDENT. I agree.

I~9.t. CHAIKA. I have no objection, it is

just wasting time. Can we do tha.t at a subsequent ti.me?

MRm PICCIRILLI. I'd ask that the notes

be marked now and held by the stenographer and then returne~

to the witness.
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THE PRESIDENT. Councilman Stravato, you

ha.d the floor~

N~t. PICCIRILLI. May I ask the Chair to

have the notes marked by the stenographer, and give them

back to the witness.

THE PRESIDENT. No objection. Defend-

ant's Exhibit A, I preswne.

MR. CHAIKA. That's not my exhibit, that

wouid have to be the Council's Exhibit.

MR. PICCIRILLI. Petiti,at~r's Exhibit

Number 7 I believe then. You may mark it Petitioner's Ex-

hibit 7 0

MR. C~~. I don't see where Mr. Pic-

cirilli has the right to give the Council permission to do

anything in this mattero

THE PRESIDENT. We have to mark it some-

thing. Wha.t do you agree on"? A, B, ~:; ar D?

MR. CHAIKA. I think it is ~he Council`s

exhibit.

MR. ROTONDI. It is an e~ibit by the

petitioner, there is no objectiona

NIIt. CHAIKA. I have no objection to its

admissibility, but I do have objection to that being his

exhib it .
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MR. ROTONDI. Right now it is his wit-

ness.

MR. CHAIKA. No, it isn't. The questior~'

er at the present time is Councilman Stravato's witnesso ~I

MR, PTCCIRILLE. It is sti1.1 my witness,

I called him.

NIlt. CHAIKA. I' 11 abide by your ruling.

(CITY EXHIBIT 7 MARKED)

A~t. STRAVATO. Mr, President, now tha.t

it is presented as an e~iibit, whatever the number might

be, or whosever exhibit it might be, I request Mrm Cesaro

read it in its entirety.

Mtt. PICCIRILLZ. No objection.

THE PRESIDENT. Okay. And we will re-

main quiet to give Mrm Cesaro the opportunity to read it

so we cari a11 hear it.

A. ...On November 13, 1980, I did receive a letter from

Mr. Mancone requesting the foll.owing i:nformation: One,

quantity of sand and salt presently on hand; two, anticipa

ed quantity needed for sr~ow removal this season; three, re

moval contracts presently negotiated and additional expect

to be negotiated. On receipt of ~his letter, I turned it

over to my Deputy Director to assess the required vol.umes

of sand and salt on hand at our Troy Street location, and
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also told my office admfnistrator to furnish me with quan-

ti~ies of sand and salt we covered last year and this year ~

and quantities of both consumed last year, which he fur-

nished to me. I~owever, I was sti11 waiting for the re-

maining information requested from Mr. Lembo. Itein Two;

could not be determined in the letter dated November 13,

which was anticipated qua.ntity needed for snow removal this

season. Since there is no way of predicting how severe a

snow season we will be faced with this year, I recei.ved a

letter, Item Nvmber Three, I received a letter dated Novem-

ber 14, 1980, a Friday at 3:05 on tha.t day, which requeste

additional items of information to be supplied to his offi

by Monday, November 17, 1980, by 4:30. On November 17, 19

at 4:15, I was in receipt of a phone ca11 by the Mayor's

secretary asking if the requested information outlined in

the letter dated November 14, 1980, would be delivered by

4:30. I informed the Ma.yor's secretary we had a11 the in-

formation requested in the November 14, 1980 letter ready,

with the exception of the volumes of sand and salt in our

Troy Street location that will complete the information re-

quested. I told her the complete information would be in

their office by the next morning. At this point and ti.me,

I discussed it with Mr. Lembo, and he said he would check

it on his way home that day so that we could have the compl~
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information requested by the next morning.

Now, I wa~t~ you people a11 attest to the fact that

this occurred on Monday at approximately 4:25, just pre

to the snowstorm.

For the record, item Number Three, the Navember 13,

1980 letter regarding snow removal contracts negotiated a

remained to be negotiated and signed. The key man, Peter

Cannellas, was laid off. That was his responsibility for

getting the contracts signed and if he was no t laid off,

a11 the contracte would have been signed. Since his layoff,

my secretary contiriued to ca11 the remaining contractors

and requested them to come in and sign their contracts.

November 17, 1980, I distributed some of the contracts to

be signed to Mr. Lembo -- that by the way is in the morni

and I personally went out to inany of these contractors who

were willing and available to sign contracts. At the con-

clusion of tha.t, I made my appearance, I was in the Board

of Contract and Review meeting Monday afternoon, November

17, 1980 at Citp Hall from 2:00 P.M. to 4:00 P,M., approxi

mately 4:00 P.M., and returned to my office at approximate

4:10 P.M. When I returned, no messages to ca11 the Mayor

was left with my secretary, and then I referred you to

"See Item Nvmber Three;'the call that came in from the

Mayor's office, at 4:15 requesting whether or not that
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the Mayor was seemingly having difficulty in understanding

where my whereabouts was. I

MR. PICCIRILLI. I object, I believe

that's not part of the statement that he's reading. I

think the witness is paraphrasing the statementm I don't

recall reading that on the statement.

Ti~ WZTNESS. No, it is not.

I~. PICCIRILLI. May I ask the witness

to merely read the statement as he was requested to do.

THE PRESIDENT. Sustained. Cross it

off the record.

A. .a.Tn response to the ca11, in response to the ca11

at 10:15 P.M. --

MR. PICCIRILLIm May I object, he ha.s

skipped a portion of that record. The last thing I have

in reading is what occurred at 4:10 P.M. There is a gap

from 4:10 P.M. to 4:15 P.M. I wish the notes to read what

happened between that ti.me.

THE PRESIDENT. From 4:15?

N~t. PICCIRILLI. Tha.t's correct,

A. Yes, I related that we lef~ the office at 4:25, I re-

lated --

" 24 ~~ Nat. PICCIRILLI. Just read it. Don't
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look at me. Just read it.

THE WITNESS. Mr. Piccirilii, I'm try-

ing to establish everything between four as requested by

the Councilman, until the following day when I was suspend-

ed. Is that the request?

MR. PICCIRILLI. This is a different

thing. You have been asked to read your s~atement, you

answer the q.uestions later, at this point you have been

asked to read your statement verbatim.

THE PRESIDENT. Sustained, read every

word, word for word in the statemento

Mtt. MOISE. Mr. President, point of in-

formation, if this gentleman ma.de notes and the notes ~re

not complete sentences or complete information for the

record, I think it is detrimental for the record.

THE PRESIDENT. We established something

he ha.s to read word for word this statement. We establishe~

that. He wi11 expound later.

MR, MOISE. I question tha.t. If tha.t

man made notes tha.t are not in complete thoughts, he's

under oath, he's making a statement honestly for tha.t

dictator there -- excuse me, wha.tever you ca11 hero

MR. PICCIRILLI. May I have that read
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back, please.

MR. STRAVATO. I have the floor. He is

answering my question. I think it is unfair tha.t if he ha.

got notes with gaps in between, that he reads a note that'

unfinished for us.

THE PRESIDENT. No, it is not unfair.

We established he should read this statement word for word.

MR~ STRAVATO. I disagree with your rul-

ing, I ask for a ruling from the body. I disagree with

that ruliag because if he has a note with a gap where he

ha.s to re late to •-

THE PRE~IDE1'~T. We decided on something,

we should stick by ite

MEt. PICCIRILLI. I ha.ve no ob jection to

the witness later adding something, but at this point he

was asked by direction of Council to read his statement.

MR. ROTONDI. Expand on it at a la~er

time.

THE PRESIDENT~ Tha.t's wha.t we establish

ed, i thought we established thafi ruling. Unless you want

to change the ruling againv

MR. STRAVATO. What I am saying, if he

has a brief note fihat's goi.ng to make only sense to him,

it's not going to make sense to us.
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THE PRESIDENT. He can elaborate aftero

That's what we agreed upon, unless you want to take a vote

and change the ruling again.

MR. STRAVATO. That's what I said, I

disagree with the ruling, I want hi.m to be able to elabor-

ate in between.

NIIt . CHAIItA . Jus t read it .

THE PRESIDENT. Clem Cegaro's attorney

agreed to wha,t we established, and I think i~C is fair to

the attorney and it is fair to Mr. Cesaro to continue the

way he's continuing, until later. Right, counselor?

MR. CHAIKA. Yes, I believe so, if Mr.

Cesaro at the end feels he has to add something, or clarify

he can certainly do that. You're the Chair and you can

a11ow it.

THE PRESIDENT. Council.man Easton.

l~t. EASTON. T really don't care frankly

if Mr. Chaika and Mr. Piccirilli agree on the thing, and

that's the whole point we've been arguing here for now abou

a week and one day. The whole point of the rule change

which we have heard all kinds of vitriolics spread around

abaut how we were a~ious to suppress the whole process of

due process here. The whole point of the rules change was

it seemed reasonable to a number of us that the best way to
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get the truth out here would be to a11ow one side to say

what it had to say, to a11ow another side to say what they

had to say and not get a lot of Iawyers wrangling about

rules or whatever. The Council would like to hear what

ha.ppened in Mr. Cesaro's words, in the Mayor's words, and

the words of any other relevant witnesses that ha.ve to ap-

pear before this Committee. In the meantime, a11 this

rambling and a11 this haggling about rules, to me is a lot

of baloney. We're anxious to have one side tell their

story and the other side ~e11 their story, I'm tired of

Mr. Piccirilli -- I'm tired of Mr. Piccirilli making 1ega1

maneuverings in an attempt to drag this hearing out. We

ha.ve an obliga'~ion to this city. Right now there are cam-

eras outside the City Ha].1 anxious to know whether or not

people are going to get their garbage picked up, whether

or not the city is going to function, whether or not the

city is going bankrupt tomorrow, and instead we are playin

legal games. What people want to know wha.t Mr. Cesaro d~d

what did the Mayor do, did he have a just cause to do it o

didn't he and after we hear that, we can vote the issuea

A11 this 1ega1 maneuvering to me is a lot of baloney. I'm

sick of it.

MR. PICCIRILLI. I'm trying to have the

Council comply with the rulings it established. This
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Council,and you were sitting here, agreed Mr. Cesaro should

read his statemento I don't think it is fair to the Counci

to have something read which is not written down, and that'

all I ask the witness to do is to read what he wrote.

MR. EASTON. Mr. Piccirilli, I disagree

completely. I think you're trying to maneuver hima If Mr.

Cesaro has something to say, he should say it. I'm confi-

dent tha.t he's anxious, tha.t he's able to say it in his

own words.

TI~ PRESIDENT. The Council wi11 take a

five-minute break.

{BRIEF RECESS)

THE PRESIDENT. Cou,ncil come to order.

Clerk, ca11 the rol~m Quiet in the audience.

ROLL CALL: President Fargnoli: Here.
Mr. Addison: Here.
Mro Almagno: Hereo
Mr. Boyle: Here.
Ms. Brassil: Here.
Mr. Cirelli: Absent.
Mro Cola: Absent.
Mr. Di11on: Here.
Mr. Easton: Here.
Mr. Farmer: Here.
Mr. F1ynn: Hereo
Mr. Glavin: Here.
Mr. Griffin: Abseat.
Mrm Johnson: Absent.
Mr. Lynch: Absen~C.
Mr. Mansolillo: Here.
Mr. Moise: Here.
Mr. 0'Connor: Here.
Mra Paolino: Here.
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Mr. Pearlman: Here.
Mr. Pennine: Here.
Mr. Petrosinelli: Here.
Mr. Salvatore: Hereo
Mr. Snowden: Here.
Mr. Stravato: Here.
Mr. Xavier: Absent.

THE PRESIDENT. ~aenty present and ,six

absent. We have a quorum.

Mr. Cesaro would like to say something.

THE WITNESS. I'm going to continue to

read this to satisfy Mr. Piccirilli, but I am also go~.ng

to fill in ~he gaps because I think the Council is here to

know a11 the facts and I am going to fi11 in the facts

whether Mr. Piccirilli wants me to or not.

MR. MANSOLILLO. Mra President, Mr.

President, I know that the Chair has ruled tiha.t Mr. Cesaro

read the statement as it is before hi.m, and you know, it i

a good tactic for Mr. Cesaro to use to say Mr. Piccirilli

wants him to do tha.t, but the Chair has asked hiun to do

that. I don't Icnow where th.e confusion comes in. I would

expect that any variance in the Cha,ir's ruling in this

matter would be something that only this body could contra

vene. So, I expect that in light of yaur ruling, tha.t the

proceeding wi11 con~inue along the lines that you have pre

viously established, that is that Mr, Cesaro wi11 read tro~

the statement. If th.e Chair's ruling is challenged, again
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a midstream cha.11enge, is obvivusly coming since Council-

man Stravato and Councilman Easton and Councilman Maise

have arisen, and since Mr. Cesaro has already indicated

that he is going to do what he wants in any event, you

know, I think that if I were the Chair, I would not a11ow i

to ha.ppen.

Mlt. MOISE. Mr. President.

THE PRESIDENT. Mr. Cesaro would like to

clarify somethingo

I~t. MOISE. We are going to get copies

of this.

THE PRESIDENT. Mr. Cesaro would like

to clarify sdmething, please.

THE WITNLSS. I intend to read on, with

no further interruptions, I hope, and at the conclusion,

I wi11 fi11 in the gaps I feel that are lacking in this

presentation.

THE P'12ESIDENT. Yes.

MR. MOISE. Mr. President, tha.nk you,

Mr. President, since Mr. Piccirilli said we are a11 going t

get copies of tha.t said dvcument that he's reading from, we

are going to have copies for us, right. What's the dif-

ference if he fills in the gaps, we are going to have the

copies anyway, and the copies are going to be passed out.
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H~e asked that copies be made, we got copies irom the Mayor,

the Mayor didri't read a11 his, but he just went on to read

questions.

THE PRESIDENT. His wish is to read wo=d

for word and fill in the gaps after. If we wi11 be a 1itt1

quiet, he will finish this and then fill in the gaps and

you can ask any questions you want. He's more than g1a.d to

answer.

MR. STRAVATO. Mr. President, you allowe~

Mr. Cesaro to make a statement and he stated what he'd like

to do and I would lik.e for you -- now we are changing it

back and forth -- I would like for you to make a ruling on

what he s~Cated. I would rathe~ see him answer my question

by filling in the gaps as he goes along.

MR. MOISE. Tha.t's his qu~estion.

THE PRESIDENT. A member of the body ha,s

to make th.e ruling. I can't make it.

MR. STRAVATO. You are judge and jury,

you're the presiding officer.

MR. MOISE. I ma.ke a motion si.nce it is

Councilma.n Stravato's questi.on tha.t it be answered, because

a11 this took effect after he asked the question, and I

think his question has the perogative of being answered

first.
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MR. ROTONDI. The rule of the Chair is,

as we sit here, he read it word ~or word. He cannot change

his ruling based on Mr. Cesaro's request.

NII2. STRAVATO. That's what you are say-

ing, you said -- the President, if I understood him correct y

said when after we took the ro11 caZ1 that Mr. Cesarn wante

to make a statement.

THE PRESIDENT. Yes.

MR. STI~AVATO. And Mr. Cesaro's s~ate-

ment was that he wanted to read his transcript, wha.tever

he has before him, and fi11 in the gaps as he goes along;

NIlt. ROTONDI. Tha.t's contradictory to

wha.t the Chair has overruled.

MR. STRAVATO. That's what he said, so I

would like you to rule on that and ask hi.m to proceed in

tha.t fashion.

MR. ROTONDI. It ha.s got to be a motion.

MR. STRAVATO. I put tha.t in the form

of a motion.

MR. PETROSINELLI. Second the rnotion.

THE PRESIDENT. Motion made and seconded

Mr. Cesaro would fi11 in the gap as he goes along, a11 in

favor?

(VOTCE VOTE)
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THE PRESIDENT. No?

(VOICE VOTE)

THE PRESIDENT. The Nds ha.ve it.

MR. MOISEa I ask a ro11 call voteo

T~iE PRESIDENT a Ro11 call vote.

I~.t. STRAVATO. The no's were a little

louder, that's a11. Roll caZ1 vote.

MR. GLAVIN. Debate on the motion.

I~.t. STRAVATO. There's a motion on the

f 1oor. •

NIlt. GLAVIN. I can debate the motion,

it is in order. Let me tell you something right now, we

have got a 1ot of people here, most of them are city work-

ers, and once again, this Council has.~shown how immature

it can be. This whole hearing i~ a total sham. We a11

know it. We are a11 sitting here like a bunch of dummies.

We know the way the political lines are drawn. Why do we

subject this man to this? It's not fair. Why do we sub-

ject ourselves to this nonsense. Thi.s is a waste of my

ti.me and every one of your ti.me who is here tonight. This

is ridiculous. Whenever it is politically expedient to

change the rules, you do it. His life is in the balance

here, his career, and yet a11 we are doing is playing
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ping pong games like I stated earlier. Why don't we grow

up. We can't do it because we are in Providence and poli-

tics always prevails, •

This is a complete~and utter disgrace and it is no

wonder whea you go in a cafe or coffee shop in this city,

people laugh at you if you are a City Council. member.

Ma.ny of us try to do the:~right thing and many of us try to

sit here and object a voice, but you can't, because the

powers to be can pu11 their strings and get the people to

do what they want when they want. Well, let me te11 you,

I've had it. You ca~ a11 think what you think about me,

I don't care, because this is nonsense, this is ridiculous,

it is the most unfair thing I have ever seen. If I was

Mr. Cesaro, I wouldn't stay here, because he is the one

who is going to be the loser no matter what ha.ppens, becaus

wha.tever decision we make, is going to be subject to the

peop7:e of Providence, because they know what's going on

here, and what is is ridiculous.

(MR. GLAVIN LEFT ROOM)

THE PRESIDENT. Can we ask for quiet

please. We have a motion on the floor and Councilman re-

quested a ro11 call vote. If you are in favor of the

motion, you say Aye; against the motion you say no. Re-

peat the motion.
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THE CLERK. The motion is to vote Aye

you are going to allow Mr. Cesaro to read his sta~ement ~

fi11 in the gaps as he goes along, if you vote Aye.

ROLL CALL: President Fargnoli: No.
Mr. Addison: Aye.
Mr. Am~.lgno ; No.
Mr. Boy1e: Aye.
Msp Brassil: Ayem
Mr. Cirelli: Absent.
Mr. Cola: Absentm
Mr, Di1lon: Aye.
Mr. Easton: Aye.
Mr. Farmer: Noa
Mr. Fiynn: Aye.
Mr. Gl.avin: Absent.
Mr. Griffin: Absent.
Mr. Johnson: Absenta

'Mr. Lynch: Absent.
Mr. MansolilZo: No.
Mr. Moise: Aye.
Mr. 0'Connor: Aye.
Mr. Pao].ino : Aye.
Mr. Pe~r l.ma.n : No .
Mr. Pennine: Not voting,
Mr. Petrosinelli: Ayea
Mr. Salvatore: Aye.
i~r. Snowden: Not voting.
Mr. Stravato: Aye.
Mr. Xavier: Absent.

THE PRESIDENT. ~welve Ayes, five no's,

two not voting, seven absent, the Ayes ha.ve it.

(MOTION PASSED)

A. ...When I returned, no messages to ca11 the Mayor was

left with my secretary, and I refer to Stem Three which

clearly indicates that a ca11 came in from the Mayor's of-

fic~e at 4:15 wondering whether or not I was going to have
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the information in to him on time. At that particular

time, I sat down with Mr. Lembo and informed him of the

importance of having that information to try and get the

inforina~ion in to the Mayor's office that was requested,

and he said, before he left that office, and we were there

until about 4:45, he told me and promised me that he would

go to the Troy Street loca~ion, and determine the volume

and woul.d call me at home and give me that infornaa.tion so

that I would know at home wha.t ~he volumes were, and on

the following morning he was supposed to complete the re-

por~ ot the Mayor's office. I want you people to rea].ize

that this was Monday evening at 4:45, or Monday afternoon

at 4:45, which concluded our day, and ~Chen I went home at

that particular point and that concluded my day at the

o£ff.ce.

There's a question in response to a call. that was

placed ta my house by the Ma.yor, In response to the ca11

at 10:15 P.M., made at my home and the message left with

my wife, I did not receive this message until approa~imate

10:00 the following morning, after being in receipt of my

suspension given to me in a telephone conversation with

the Mayor at approxi.mately 4:15 on November 18, 1980. His

information that he asserted was also incarrectm The fol-

lowing personnel was present when I arrived between 12:30
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At that t une at I:00 A.M., November 18, 1980, I was

talkiag with my night foreman, my general foreman, and

during our conversation, no mention of any order to call

the Mayor was brought to my attention. Therefore, I cannot

be accused of disregarding an order to call the Ma.yor im-

mediately. At 1:00, my general foreman, Mi.chael Acetta,

informed me that we had two £oremen which were present,

two operators, two mechanics, and Guy Zanni in charge of

the roller shede This was the personnel available with

the exceptio~ of the dispatcher who was, I believe, Peter

Bowie. The heavy equipment operator for the night shift,

I was told, called in sick, who operated the loader.

Another heavy equipment operator, Ernest Lema, was also out

sick, I was told, with a massive heart attack and calls wer

made to get other heavy equipment aperators with no success

Another was on vacation and five were laid off. At this

point, we had rio heavy equipment operators to load the

trucks. I also asked where Mr. Dambrosco and Mr. D'Amico

were, and Mr. Acetta said they called him and when they

were unsuccessful he went to the house and got no response.

He also called Mr. D'Amico with no success. Mr. Dambrosco

and Mr. Cannellas are in cha.rge of the snow removal effort

and have the names and the telephone numbers of all the
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snow removal contractors and the city personnel attached

to this operation. However, Mr. Cannellas, who was so es-

sential to the snow removal, was laid of£ once again, Mon-

day, November 17, also by the way he was laid oif Monday

morning. The storm as you recall, started supposedly aroun

10 -- the snow started coming down somewhere in the vicinit

of 10:00, 10:10, on Monday evening. Of the four city-owned

trucks available, twa of these trucks were ten-wheel Ma.cks,

which require a heavy equipment operator and a laborer to

operate these trucks, and the o~her trucks require an

operator and a laborer to operate. The two mechanics were

in the process of getting one more truck ready. However,

we had no heavy equipment operator to load the trucks. And

the names of the rental equipment contractors were also in

the possession of Mr. Dambrosco. The claim that I did not

attempt to order the trucks and men on the road, is an ab-

solute distortion. I discussed this i.nnnediatelp when I

arrived between 12:30'and 1:00, of the possibility of put-

ting into service any trucks that were already equipped

with the sanding and salt-spreading equipment. This I

discussed with my general foreman, and foremens, and the

final conclusions were as follows: The two key personnel

in charge of the snow operations were not available. One

of them, of course, was laid off, who was Peter Cannel~.as.
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The other I quite clearly told you tha.t tihere were attempts

to reach him, but they were not successfula Mra Acetta

stafied he placed the telephone ca11s to Mr. Dambrosco and

he got no answer, and when he was unsuccessful, he

to go to his home and was unsuccessful again. The other

key man was Peter Cannellas, once again I mentioned, who

also coordinated the snow removal operation, was laid off

by the Mayor Monday morning, November 17, 1980.

The responsibility of these two key men was as fol-

1ows: Gentlemen, this is the procedure I told you that is

set up for the snow operation in the City of Providence

tha.t has been pursued for the past 13 years. The respon-

sit~ilities of these two key men were as follows: Upon a

call from the dispatcher of an approaching storm, or visual

signs of one, they are to i.r~nediately report to the yardo

Gentlemen, what I'm saying in essence here is the dispatch-

er has been informed, either by the Hurricane Barrier, who

has the teletype system and has a constant report coming in

on any storm that's approaching. He then informs the dis-

patcher that the dispatcher at that point is the tri.ggering

mecha.nism that contacts Mr. Ernest Dambrosco and Mr. Peter

Cannellas, who are in charge of the snow removal effort9

or in addition to that, in the event he doesn't get any

kind of a snow report, but he physically visually sees snow
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coming down, he then also triggers the mechanism and ca11s

and contacts Mr. Ernest Dambrosco and Mra Peter Cannellas,

On receipt of this call, they are to contact -- I am

talking now once again on receipt of the ca11 from the dis-~

patcher, Mr. Dambrosco, and Mr~ Cannellas, are to contact

the wagon master, Mr. D'Amico, who is the steward also,

and Mro Guy Zanni, who is in charge of all the mechanics

in the entire roller shed operationso Mr. Cannellas also

was contacted by either Mr. Dambrosco or the dispatcher,

as a doubl.e reassurance, that he is called, ax~d Mr. Acetta,

the General Foreman,is then called and tuld to come in im-

mediately. On their arrival on the job, they immediately

call in the necessary city personnel to operate our equip-

ment. They also call possible sanding and salting rental

contractors ta place them on possible standby in the event

that they are required to be called into serviceo On com-

pletion, they call the Director and assess him of their

status, and the Director then comes to the job immediately

and helps make decisions on all the operations.

So si~ce Mr. Dambrosco and Mr. Cannellas were not

available, and has an end product the list of city person-

ne1 and renting equipment contractors and the names of

their men that are to be called, and their telephone nurnber;

we were handicapped to contact these contractors for their
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services. We were also faced -- we had two ten-wheel Mack

trucks that were equipped with sanding and salting spreader ,

that each required a heavy equipment operator and laborer

to operate. We had two other five to eight-ton Crucks whic

require each an operator and a laborer to operate. However

we could not put the two trucks into service because we did

not have a heavy equipment operator.

Now, ladies and gentlemen, Z am making reference to

the two Mack trucks, the heavy Mack trucks that, by union

requirement, require a heavy equipment operator, so without

a heavy equipment operator that truck cannot be pushed into

service. That left us with two remaining truckse We did

ha.ve the operators and we did have the laborers that are

required to man those trucks. However, we did not have,

once again, any heavy equipment operator that would perform

the responsibilities to load these trucks. At this time, I

asked the night foremens too~me with me -- I hope I don't

confuse anybody on tha.t issue -- we had two trucks that

could go out. We ha.d the two men, the two operators to

drive those trucks and the two laborers would go along with

the truck drivers. However once again, there was no ulti-

mate purpose in sending two trucks out to pass out air when

their intended purpose was to spread sand and salt and we

did not have the heavy equipment operator that would load
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these two trucks.

At th~s time, I asked the night foremens to come with

me, to survey the city and evaluate our present road con-

ditions, and also our most current weather forecastm We

went to the Hurricane Barrier to read the most recent weat -

er conditions on our teletype machine. I saw and discusse ,

by the way, with the gentleman that was on duty, that the

temperature was 34 previously, and at the ti.me we were ther

at the Hurricane Barrier, the temperature was 37 degrees,

clearly indicating that the temperatures were on the rise

and did not pose any freezing problem.

MR. DILLON. Excuse me, Mr. President.

AB m..And a~.so saw the predictions on the teletype sys-

tem that the snow would be changing to rain and later

stopping. We then proceeded to check the road conditions

in the city: the bridge areas, hi11s, and main arteries.

At the completion of the evaluation we returned to the

roller shed and I let the men out and later went home to

change my wet gear, my wet stockings, etceterao

MRo DILLON. Excuse me, could you te11 u

the names, you say the night foremen, I think it would be

helpfulm

A. .a.Okay, the gentleman that came with me in the car to

survey the city were two foremens, Mra Anthony DelSanto,
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Mr. Joseph McLaughlin, Mr. Victorio, I'm going to tell you

that a little further along, and myself. The four of us

went out to survey the road conditions in the City of Provi

dence and also went to the Hurricane Barrier to see what

problems we were confronted with as far as the weather con-

ditionso I repeat, I went home to change my wet stockings,

etcetera. During the time I was at home at about 3:25,

Michael Acetta called me from the roller shed and spoke to

me, and while we were talking, Mr. Zanni had a ca11 on the

other phone and told Mr. Acetta, the Mayor was trqing to ge

in on the line, and an emergency operator interrupted and

said to end our conversation. We both then ended our con-

versation to pexYnit the ca11 to go through. i then com-

pleted what I had to do and then went back to the job at

about 3;45. Now, gentlemen, during that time, I was not

in receipt of any call from the Mayor's office. I went to

the city again and radioed in to the dispatcher telling him

I would be back in the garage in about five minutes, which

was about 4:00 in the morning, When I arrived back at the

garage, I was talking to my men, and my foreman, Joseph

McLaughlin, was telling me tha.t Mr. DelSanto went home sick

and tha.t the Ma.yor had called him and threatened to fire

him because the equipment did not go out.

Shortly a€ter, at about 4:15, I received a call from
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the Mayor during my discussions with my men, and at no t

was I told to ca11 the Mayor by anyone present. At this

time, he asked me~about the snow removal plan he had re-

quested at the time, and at that ti.une, I was wondering why

he was asking me this question and, by the way, gentlemen,

in the background was all the confusion of all the men in

the controversy, and I was wondering why he was asking me

this question and what his reason for asking me this ques-

tion when I had explained and answered ~his question when

I spoke to his secretary at 4:15 on November 17, 1980. He

then asked me if the sanders were out and I attempted to

inform him of our condition and problem, that we had no

heavy equipment operator to laa.d the trucks at the t une and

he was very abrupt and did not afford me the opportunity to

offer him a reasonable explanation. He then said, I was

suspended and terrninated from my job as the Director of

Public Works. I then ~c=Q~plied, he eould suspend me but not

terminate me; however, for hun to take any steps, he felt

necessary.

After the rescinding of layoffs on Friday, November 14

1980, by the Arbitrator, I then felt we definitely had to

complete preparing our trucks with sanding equipment in the

event of a storm. Now, ladies and gentlemen, this was on

November 14, before there was any forecast of any storm
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approaching. I felt that when they rescinded the layoffs

that I immediately, as the Directo=, ha.d a responsibility

to make every effort to get the necessary personnel in to

put the sanding equipment on these trucks in the eventuali

of any up and coming snowstorm. I told my foreman, Mr. Guy

Zanni, to ca11 in three mechanics to complete the prepara-

tion and mounting of the necessary sanding equipment.

Later, Mr. Zanni called me and said he received a ca11 fro~

the Mayor's office telling him not to ca11 in the three

m.echanics and if he did, they would not get paido That

only 48-hour people that normally work an a Saturday could

be permitted to come in. La.dies and gentlemen, all the

mechanics are 40-hour men and I have stated for the record

on numerous occasions that I had to pay overtime two mec

ics at least a half a day, on a Saturday, even though they

are 40-hour men, to reassure ourselves tha.t all the trucks

and equipment were =eady to ro11 on the Monday morning so

that the men tha.t operated those pieces of equipment and

put them into service could do so and wouldn't be standing

around the garage for the mechanics to perform the neces-

sary repairs to put them in service on a Monday morning;

so I have stated for the record, ti.me and ti.me again, that

I felt that we had to have these mechanics in at least a

half-day to keep our fleet in operation for Monday morning.
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I also permit them to work Saturday mornin~;s a half-day to

insure all the trucks and equipment on ~he day are repaire~

that's just wha,t I told you, so Monday morning they are

ready to be placed into service. I gave the order to also

work Saturday and Sunday. La.dies and gentlemen, I attempt

to ca11 in these three mechanics, realizing that we had a

major problem in the event of a snowstorm, and as the

shows, they refused to pennit these men to come in. And I

said, very clearly, I gave orders to come in and work Sat-

urday and Sunday, because I fully realized that we were so

far behind and we were very close to a snowstorm period,

and i felt that I fulfilled my obligation to request that

these men be put into service, be given the overti.me, to

insure ourselves in the event of a snowstorm that we had

this equipment ready to go with the sanding and salting

operation so direly needed which the facts will prove we

only had four ready and we had a fleet of 50 trucks that

were capable of being mounted with the spreading equipment.

Now, ladies and gentlemen, 1et me go a step further,

let me give you the facts as they really are. The Mayor

in his last comments publicly, for the record, clearly

stated that my first suspension was political. I ask a11

you intelligent people to evaluate at this present ti.me

the following circumstances tha.t I am going to present to
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you as intelligent people to evalute. When Loca1 1033, il

previous to the Gubernatorial election, the Mayor made a

request for Local 1033, as you a11 know, to support hin~ in ,

his Gubernatorial campaignm The record clearly shows that I

Local 1033 did not give the support to the Ma.yor in his

Gubernatorial quest. For the record, it is quite obvious

that the Ma.yor was very upset about this.

THE PRESIDENT. He is out of ordera

MR. ALMAGNO. I think he is out of order

THE PRESIDENT. This is not the question

whether the union supported the Mayor or not.

MR. ALMAGNO. The Mayor is not on trial

here.

MR. EASTONm Mro President, if Mr. Cesar~

wishes ta offer some comments along this line, i think it

might be enlightening, and as the result of which I wi11

now ask the question; Mr, Cesaro, what is the reason that

you fe~1 behind the problems involving your firingo

MR. PICCIRILLI. Ma.y I respectfully ob-

ject. I thought the rules tha.t the Council ha.d established

was tha.t the Councilmen would question witnesses concerning

the events of November 17 and 18. Now, I may be wrong, per~

ha.ps the rules changed in my absence, but I thought that

was the extent of the input.
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MR. EASTON. Mr. Piccirilli has a lot

of ga11a He just a few minutes ago brought up some con-

versation in a dinner two weeks after the events and we

went through this whole long thing about it, and now I'm

asking a very germane question as to what he thinks were

the elements that resulted in this suspension, which is

perfectly relevaat to the issue and Mro Piccirilli is ob-

jecting, I can't believe it. My question to Mr. Cesaro an~

the President recognized me, was wha.t do you think are the

reasons leading up to your dismissal. Please allow him to

answer the question. Thank you.

MR. PICCIRILLI. Ma.y I?

THE PRESIDENT. We have one question on

the floor.

NIIt. PICCIRILLI. Ma.y I respectfully re-

spond?

MR. SNOWDEN, Mr. President, I wanted to

~ ask whether Mr. Cesaro is finished --

I~IIt. STRAVATO. He is answering my ques-

tion, I still have two more questions, when he's finished,

that I want to ask him.
i

NIIt. PICCIRILLI. Mr. President --

THE WITNESS. I'm sti11 not finished.

I►~t. PICCIRILLI. I'd sti11 like a ru7.ing
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on this.

THE PRESIDENT. I wil.l rule this : I~e

is answering Councilman Stravato's question, and Mro Cesaro
~

stated he's no~ through with it, through answering his ques

tionm So wi11 qou continue before we go into any other
~

~ questions this evening.

A. .m.I'm trying to create the entire picture for your

consideration this evening and a11 the circumstances sur-

! rounding it, so that when you make your decision, you m,ake

your decision, but I want the facts known for your evalua-

~ tion. I am not trying to influence you, I am just giving

you the facts tha.t 1ed up to the situa.tion that I was put

in for suspension, and i feei tha.t these facts are all iun-

portant facts to be considered. Now, I wi11 go on. Local
{
+, 1033 did not give the Mayor the support and as an end prod-

uct, it's logical to assume -- Mx'. Piccirilli, I'm speaking

, if you don't mind.

' THE PRESIDENT. You are out of order.

Ngt. ALMAGNO. Mr. President, what has

! 1033 got to do with this?

NIIt. PICCIRILLI. Mro President, I just

I merely s~ood, I did not interrupt. May I be heard?

~ MR. ALMAGNOm What has it got to do --

MR. MOISE. Do his workers work for 1033'
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THE WITNESS. Absolutely. Are they

of my work force?

MR. MO~SE. Tha.t's ito

N~. MANSOLILLO. Indeed tha.t's revealin ,

the Public Works Director believes the Public Works workers

work for 1033; a very revealing statement I might say, the

people of the Gity of Pravidence employ those workers, not

1033, Mr. Cesaro.

THE WITNESS. We certainly know who

employes these ~employees on the payroll, but we are also

knowledgeable of the fact tha.t they are members of the

Local 1033, aren't they?

NIIt. MANS4LILL0. They certainly are, b~

when you saq they work for them, it m$kes a he11 of a 1ot

of difference.

MR. SNOWDEN. I would ask that the wit-

ness proceed under your guidelines, that he is out oE order

A. ...Now, as an end product, the circumstances emphasize

with today is pure and sianple. Was this situation a plan,

an ultimate plan, set up as a political ~ve to remove me

from office, and the answer is pure and si.mple, yes once

again, and it is quite obvious. Now since Local 1033 ha.d

their confrontation going on with the Mayor, there was --

I am going to relate back to a situation regarding the j
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garbage trucks, which is very important to this hearing --

l~it. PICCIRILLI. Mr. President, I do

protest.

MR. STR~,VATO. Let hixa continue.

MR. MANSOLILLO. I protest also, and Y'd

like to rise:on a point of order. If Mr. Cesaro is answer-

ing questions pursuant to his statement, elaborative of his~

statements, expanding on it in terms of events and sequence~

etcetera, that's one thing. To comment on it as it relates

to other events surrounding it, is strictly out of order,

number one. Number Ztao, if he decides he must have this

out, a11 right, whatever he wants to say, I would suggest

tha.t he consult with his attorney, and have hian ask him the

questions tha.t he wants to give us answers to on the record

Otherwise we're going to be here with him com~nenting ex-

temporaneously, ad infinitum. And you know, Councilman

Stravato ha.s used the guise of having asked hi.m a question,

and certainly we as puppies ha.ve gone along with the fact

because we want to know what is happening, or what did hap-

pen, but for other events, I mean he's starting to editoria

lize now, so I would suggest Mr. Chaika, or Councilman,

after Mr. Cesaro began to answer the question, I got up, I

asked you the question, either do tha.t with your buddies,

or have Mr. Chaika ask the questions tha.t you want to give
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us answers to. Otherwyse you are violating the whole in-

quiry process here, and getting on to things that at best,

at best, you are going to ha.ve a heck of a time ge~ting

back to making them germane to what you are saying and

what you have just testified to. So a11 I am saying is

that, you know, let's not lose so much order that all you

are doing up there is talking about things you're not even

asked abouta You ha.ve been asked about the event of tha.t

evening from 4:00 on, or around there; that's fine, but as

it regards Local 1033 or Local 271, or whatever it might

be, that is ingermane to the discussion here, unless you

are asked tha.t question, it is not part of that. So, if

you feel there is a need to bring out certain things be-

cause you feel as though they are germane, I think tha.t

your attorney ought to be putting those questions to you s<

that the facts can be brought forth. Otherwise, your

answers wi11 go on forever, because you know, tell us

about, Mr. Cesaro -- it means you can tell us anything for

that matter.

MR. STRAVATO. Mr. Presidenta

THE PRESIDENT. Councilman Boylea

MR. BOYLE. Apparently some of the

Counci7.men here feel that there might be something hidden

here, maybe some of the facts that they are afraid to come
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out in the open, the Ma.yor had the opportunity a we~k or

so ago as CounciJ.man Mansolillo said, to editorialize. I

think if Mr. Cesaro wants to speak, I think we should all

hear the facts, why hide everything, 1et everything out in

the open.

MR. DILLON. I have no problem with

hearing a11 the facts and everything, but it seems to me if

the procedure is going the way I think, we are still ques-

tioning Mr. Cesaro after he ha.d his examination by Mro

Piccirilli, and now it seems to me once we get done with

a11 these questions, then we start with Mr. Cesaro's hour

of interrogation by Mr. Cha.ika., and then after tha.t, then

the Cour~cil gets to go through another cross-examination.

That puts us at about Friday afternoon, I think,

THE PRESIDENT. New Year's Day.

MR. DILLON. I think Councilman Manso~il~

lo has a point tha.t if you want to go on with explanations

of tha.t nature, then you should ha.ve Mro Chaika ask him the

questions and go from there. You are entitled to an hour,

and you are entitled to as long as it takes you to answer

the questions from the Councilmen, but I don't want t~ie ~Cwo

to double up. I don't mind hearing the story from the be-

ginning to the end once, but I think once is enougha

Ngt. CHAIKAo As Mrm Cesaro's lawyer, I
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agree with you. As far as Mro Cesaro's statement, he's

taken, as far as I'm concerned, at least three-quarters of

an hour I~aould use anyway, so you don't have to worry

about Friday afternoon.

MRo DILLON. Oka.y.

THE PRESIDENT. Councilman.Moise.

MR. MOISE. The onlything I want to say

in regards to when the Mayor had his turn, he elaborated,

not only to answer questions, but he elaborated and threw ~

some other fuel into the fire. As a matter of fact, he

went off and made a few-com~ents that were, you know, be-

yond, but I think Mr. Cesaro should ha.ve the same pr~~a~a-

tive if he could give us some additional information.

THE PRESIDENT. Mr. Stravato.

MRa STRAVATO. Are you finished with

your elaboration?

THE WITNESS. No, I wanted to expand on

it, so tha.t 2 couid present the complete picture for every-

body's evalua.tion.

MR, STRAVATO. Continuea

THE WITNESS. And i feel I am being re-

stricted in my own hearing to present the facts, because

we are getting tied up with technicalities instead of let-

ting me speak my piece and give me the opportunity to
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present all the facts.

MR. STRAVATO. Instead of getting ex-

cited, continue.

A. .a.Now, getting back, it is common sense that if there

is a dispute going on between Local 3.033 and the Mayor, the

end product is that I am going to suffer the consequences I

whatever they may be. Now, I will also relate tha.t a while

back, when the issue of garbage trucks came up, tha.t at ,

that point in time the question came up whether or not

men or four men w ere to go on the garbage trucks, and at

that point in time, I read the Union agreement and there wa~

no stipulation in there, but however the Union o~ficial

brought to my attention that during the negotiations with

the Mayor, tha.t they had a verbal agreement tha.t no less

than four men were to go on the garbage trucksa I could

physically see that there was nothing in the agreement

that dictated to that. I also asked Mr. Piccirilli for an

opinion on tha.t, and he said nowhere in their agreement was

it written that fou~ men were required on the trucks.

However, the question came up as to when dura.ng their

negotiations, which comprised Mr. i~irgilio, Mr. Arthur Coia

and the Ma.yor, who were responsible for signing the agr~ee-

ment, did or did not have a verbal agreement to that effect

tha.t there be no less than four men on the garbage trucks.
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At that point in tiune, I realized fully tha.t this issue

had to be resolved. It could not be resolved by me, the

Director, because I was not present during the negotiations

but T felt it was the responsibility of the Mayor at that

particular ti.me, and I asked him in writing to kindly si.t

down with Local 1033's, Mr. Virgilio, and Mr. Coia, and re-

solve the issue on three or four men, their verbal agree-

ment, and either deny or admit that the agreement, the

verbal agreement, was in effect. I have no way of knowing

that since I was not present.

During that time, the Union, I was informed, contact~

the Mayor's office and tried to geC the Mayor to sit doran

with them and negotiate and discuss this prob].em. This w,

never accomplished until a week later. And during that

time, we suffered a tremendous amount of garbage accummula

tion, which I had to, at a future time, expend overti.me to

clear up the mess, because the Mayor would not sit down an

fu1fi11 his duties and responsibilities to negotiate and

discuss the problem with Local 1033. So in my opinion, he

was negligent in his duties as the Mayor of the City of

Providence. Now gentlemen --

MRm PICCIRILLI. Mrm President, I hate

to interrupt Mr. Cesaro. May I make a motion tha.t the

` 24 ~~ answer be stricken from the record, since it is truly not
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responsive to the issue. The issue here, as counsel pointe

out, the problem involved November 17 and 18, not on the

garbage trucks six or seven months before thatm

l~t. CHAIKA. Until Mr. Cesaro can finish

and you can actually see whether it is actually related,

I think Mr. Piccirilli's motion is premature.

THE PRESIDENT. The Council made a state

ment, I think Councilman Boy1e made a statement a little

earlier though, that he wishes Co know the whole facts and

the true facts and God only knows.

MR. PICCIRILLI. If Mr. Cesaro is indi-

cating three or four rnen on a garbage truck resulted in the

suspension of November 18, if he can tie it together, I

have no objection.

THE PRESIDENT. Will the Council over-

rule his motion?

MR. 0'CONNOR. I don't believe Mr. Pic-

cirilli can make any motion. The Council members are the

only people tha.t can make motions, but I think tha.t the

argument basically is, and I think it was stated by Council

man Easton, and stated by Councilman Boy1e and stated by

Councilman Dillon, and Councilman Moise. We heard one

side, we want to hear the other side, let's get the he11

out of here, after we get whatever the presentation is by
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Mr. Cesaro, let's stop haggling back and forth with all

these technicalities, let's hear the man's story and get to

the business at ha.nd.

THE PRESIDENT. I wa~ll have to deny

Cour~selo.r's motionm

MR. PICCIRILLI. Thank you, please nate

my exception.

(SO NOTED)

THE WITNESS. I hope I can continue on

my train of thought, with all my interruptions. I'm sure

the Mayor wasn't interrupted :during his presentation.

Am .o.Now gentlemen, it's pure and simple, I constantly

show you that the Mayor has refused in his capacity to sit

down and negotiate or argue points that were very crucial

to the taxpayers of the City of Providence. I felt that

with him in that position, he should have been sitting dow

and resolving ~he issues and he neglected to do it, and it

was on1y, in my opinion, further harassment that was being

created by him with Local 1033, and as an end product,

ladies and gentlemen, these members are my employeesa If

they are being -- if the Ma.yor is harassing Local 1033,

he's likewise harassing the men that work for meo Is that

a logical conclusion by a11 present?

As an end product, this situation did not get better,
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but did definitely get worse, and as an end prvduct, there

was a plan in my opinion being formulated to attempt to

discredit me for lack of performance, which I ha.d no con-

trol over. I felt that if the Mayor had sat down with

Local 1033, when I originally requested him to, I would

ha.ve had my department and the taxpayers would have been

saved the burden and problems of garbage, the expenditure

of cleaning up the mess and once again the present situa-

tion that we are in right now, because the Ma.yor is re-

fusing to sit down and come to a negotiated agreement with

Local 1033. As an end product, we the taxpayers and every-

body else concerned, are suffering wi.th this condition that

we are faced with right now.

MRo PICCIRILLI. Again, Mr. President, I

move that the answer be stricken.

THE PRESIDENT. Overruled.

MIt. PICCIRILLI. Note my exception,

(SO NOTED)

A. ...Now, as an end product, as you can very clearly see!

the game plan was more or less set up, in my opinion, to

once again attempt to fire me, suspend me, and do not te11

any intelligent person that it wasn't politically motivated

once again, as it was, by his own admission, the Mayor, tha

my first suspension was politically motivated, and this for
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the record, was no different. I believe that I feel honest-

1y from my heart that I seem to be always in confrontatio

with the Mayor and may be causing many many embarrassing

situations in his quest for Governor, and as an end product,

he has a personal vendetta against me and it is moving in

that direction and has planned this whole scheme and a11

this that is being presented and put me here, embarrass me

once again, with a suspension, all because it is political-

1y motivated.

Qm I have one more question, Mr. Cesaro, do you have any know-

ledge of any interference with the duties of the dispatcher,

meaning to perform his duties to inform you or anyone in

charge, in the due process of threatening storm?

A. I was informed, I was informed, there's witnesses pres-

ent in the audience, that the Mayor, which it will be sub-

stantiated by the witnesses, they ha.ve told me this, tha.t

the Mayor, in his desire to be so concerned about the snow-

storm, neglected and told one of my men, not to contact

Ernest Dambrosco, who the Mayor hunself knew was fu11y in

charge of the snow removal effort. He g3ve orders to com-

pletely ignore calling Mr. Ernest Dambrosco.

Q. Are you saying he gave orders to the dispatcher?

A. No, he gave orders to Mr. Guy Zanni not to call Mre

, Ernest Dambrosco in.
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MR. STRAVATO. I have no further quest

THE PRESIDENT. Mr. 0'Connoro

NIIt. 0'CONNOR. Mr~ President, I think

that we have a1i seen what a farce this entire process has

turned into based on the fact tha.t we initially had a

hearing procedure that was dominated by the attorneys rathe

than the City Council. As a result of that there have been

some rule cha.nges suggested, we i.naplemented those rules and

it seems to me tha.t we are still at the point where we are

playing technical and legal games. I don't think that that

is the func'tion of the City Council.. If in fact from the

beginning we had heard Mr. Cianci's charges as he wanted to

present them, in whatever form he wanted to present them,

and then in turn heard Mr. Cesaro counter those charges, in

any form tha.t he wanted to present them, I think we would

have ha.d sufficient knowledge and evidence to make a deci-

sion. As it stands, from my sitting here from -- this is

the second meeting, I missed the first one, Thank God --

it seems to me tha.t we could ha.ee scheduled these hearings

in the Providence Civic Center and raised a great deal of

money towards the budget for the City of Providence because

it's been a great circus, as I ha.ve seen~ I think it is

a great miscarriage of justice here. I think we, as Counci~-

men, have been placed in a position of inediating a problem
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that was caused by ~he Mayor himself over a period of years

and most recently after he lost his race for the Governor-

shipm

I think at this point, at least the way I look at it,

we have heard enough to make a decision, Imove to dismiss

the charges and to reinstate Mr. Cesaro~

I~i. STRAVATO. Second the motion.

MR. MOISE. I secvnd the motion, Mro

President.

THE PRESIDENT, Motion made and seconded

to dismiss the charges. We wi11 have debate on it.

NB.t. PICCIRILLI. Mr. President, I be-

lieve that under Section 4.30 of the Charter, the City

Council is supposed to conduct a hearing.

MR. MOISE. We did.

MR. PICCIRII,LIo Now, I have indicated

to the Council, and I have only called two witnesses so

far, Mr, Cesaro and Mr. Cianci, there are at least a dozen

more witnesses tha.t I think the Council sho~ld hear. If

you want --

MR, SALVATORE. Point of order. Point

of order9 Mr. President.

MR, PICCIRILLT. I have to make an offe~

of proof for the recorda
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THE PRESIDENT. I'll hear you.

Mlt. SALVATORE. Mr. Piccirilli is not '

speaking to the motion, and i feel he's out of order.

I~Ilt. PICCIRZLLI. I'm speaking to the

motion because it is going to prohibit me or block me from

presenting evidence tha.t the Counci.l should listen too

NIlt. SALVATORE. Point of order.

THE PRESIDENT. Overruled.

MR. PICCIRILLI. Let sne teli you some

of the witnesses that wi13. testify. We have a Frank Ti-

baldi, who was at the Public Works Garage and who would

testify that he went down to the Public Works Garage, spoke

to Mro Zanni, spoke to Mrm Acetta and spoke to Mr. Cesa~o

and indicated to Mr. Cesaro that he should ca11 the Mayor,

and Mr. Cesaro didn't do it. Of course you won't permit

that to occur.

I have another affidavit from James Lembo, w ho will

testify tha.t he did in fact talk to Mr. Cesaro on the

afternoon of the 17th, but never talked to him again. He

tried to contact Mr. Cesaro at home and couldn't, didn't

l~ear another word fro~ Mro Cesaro until 5:00 the next morn-

ingm That's contrary to wha.t Mrm Cesaro said. We do have

the testimony of the poiice officer, who was now -- Police

Officer Cardarelli -- who was there on detail who will
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testify there was no disruption, chaos, and everything was

quiet. I have tapes here from Mro McLaughlin who wi11

testify that the workers in the Public Works Garage did no

go out because Mr. DelSanto told them not to go out. I t

to subpoena Mr. DelSanto, he`s not available. I tried to

subpoena Mr. Acetta; he is here aMd I'11 call him, and ~

tried to subpoena Mre Dambrosco but Mr. Dambrosco informed

me he had a union meeting tonight. I tried to subpoena

Mr. D'Amico and he was unavailable and I ha.ve evidence Mr.

D'Amico had the keys to the trucks and the trucks couldn't

go:~.out. I also have a statement and an affidavit from Mr.

Peter Bowie who testified that he talked to Mra Cesaro on

the mo rning of the 18th. In fact I have tapes of that

recording. I ha.ve a deposition from Mr. John Melvin given

to Federal Agents who will testify at length as to what

Mr. Cesaro's conversation with him w as. in the restaurant

~ on the 22nd of November. I have plenty of these witnesses.

If you don't want to hear them, Mr. Counsel, you don't ha.ve

to hear them, but I assure you tihere is much more to this

case than you believe and if you want a fu11 hearing, and

if you want a fu11 airing, I think you should hear all the

evidence and should not take such action.

I am doing this to try to present as much, as many

facts ae I can, to this Council so they can act in an
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informed manner, and that's all I'm trying to do. I cannot

govern your rules, you can change them as many times as

you want, but I think the citizens of the City of Provi-

dence are entitled to hear this evidence, and they are

entitled to know that the witnesses can be cross-examined.

And if you want to do what you want to do, go right ahead

but those are the offers of proof that I have.

THE PRESIDENT. Counsel made an offer

of proof, there is a motion pending, it was made and

seconded. Any more debate on it?

' MR. PICCIRILLI. Does anybody want to

hear the tapes, they are in my briefcase, I will play them

right now~

MIt. 0'CONNOR. Mr. President.

MR. MANSOLILLO. Point of order.

THE PRESIDENT. Point of order.

MR. MANSOLILLO. Mr. President, Mr.

0'Connor just rose and spoke fnr the first time upon ma.king

the motion, it is the rule of the Council that any other

counsel, other than one who has already spoken, xnay speak,

so I notice Councilman Moise, Councilman Easton is standing

I'll gladly yield to them~

THE PRESIDENT. Yie1d, Councilman Moise.

MR. MOISE. Mr. President, just on this
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situation, Mr. Cesaro was presented to the Council, he was

qualifi.ed, he was the Mayor's candidate, he was presented

and elected by this Council for the position of Director

of Public Works, okay. By his position as Director of

Public Works, he can delegate the authority, and he has

maintained the confidence and respect of the men that work

under him in his position.

Like I say, in all fairness, to the Maqor, and due

respect of the job that he has done, if this is going to go

to Civil Court, let them go to Civii Court. As far as

the Council, like I say, I think we have done everything

in our power. Thank you.

MR. MANSOLILLO. Mr: President.

. THE PRESIDENT. Councilman Farcnero

MR. FARMER. Mr. President, this Counci

during the course of this, as Councilman Glavin stated, ha.

ma.de a complete travesty out of this hearing. This motion

is even more than I could have imagined after we got rid

of the right to cross-exa.mine witnesses on the part of the

parties. What this is going to do if it passes, is going

to render the inevitable vote. Proponents kr~ow they are

going to get a complete nullity. There is going to be no

clearing of Mr. Cesaro tonight. He's going to walk out of

here with a vote, it's going to put hun back in the Public
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Works Department, but it is not going to be a victoryo His

name isn't going to be cleared. The only thing going to be

accomplished by this is that we are saying once and for a11

as loudly and clearly as we can, that we are not capable of

governing this city, and we are not capable of fulfilling

our responsibilities under the Chartera He's going to walk

out with the most hollow victory anybody could have, a vic-

tory where the case against him is not allowed to be pre-

sented, his own case doesn't even need to be presented be-

cause it was prejudged, and it ma.kes for the people of this

city a classic example of the incompetence of this body.

THE PRESIDENT. Councilman Easton.

NIlt. EASTON. Mr. President, I have to

speak on this motion in a very uncomfortable manner because~

I ha.ve the rare position of having to speak against Council

man 0'Connor,~om I respect greatly, and whose position I

can only sympathize with here tonight. I'd like to, since

everyone has made their speeches about the famous rules cha

and the famous things that have happened here, I'd like ver

quickly to outline wha.t I saw ha.ppening in the last week an

a half, and rea].ly even earlier than that.

A couple of months back the Mayor decided he no longer

wanted Clem Cesaro, and by his own admission, he now admits

it was because politically they didn't agree. We then aske~
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him if he would care to present to us a case of why he

didn't want Mr. Cesaro, and I think~:this is important, I

think you should remember this. We asked him to present

a case; we asked him to present witnesses; we asked him to

present a written statement; we asked hun to cross-examine

any witnesses; we asked him to appear before us, te11 us

wha,t's the problem. Why do you think Mra Cesaro should be

removed. The Mayor didn't even want to show up. At that

ti.me, he thought that due process was best served by his

sending in a letter saying, expounding on the charges that

he originally had presented. A few weeks later we get ~n.:~

this tremendous turmoil and disagreement over layoffs that

apparently also ha.d some political motivation behind them,

and as a result of that, Mr. Cesaro was l.eft in the posi-

tion where he tried to govern the Department of Public

Works, tried to get garbage picked up, tried to get streets

plowed, without knowing who was in charge because there

were some major disagreements between who the Ma.yor ha.d

laid off and who the Mayor hadn't laid offa I remind you

that the change in the layoffs came right about the time

of the storm. As far as I can see, Mr. Cesaro had no way

of even knowing who was working for hun. To this date, I

don't believe the Mayor has produced the list of the senior

ity people in this city and the layoffs. To this date,
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he ha.s not yet deiended those actions. He has made ab-

solutely no sense on this, and we stand here, and we say

after a meeting in the Mayor's office, where Mra Piccirilli

and the leadership was suddenly dra,gged downstairs and tolc

they were going to agree on rules, rules are brought up foY

us to agree ta. I stated during that time very clearly

I don't understand wha.t the rules are about, I am not sure

I like them, do we ha.ve the right to cha.nge the rules. Oh

yes, you can cha.nge the rules at any ta.me. So the next day

7 discussed it w~.th a number of people what I thought was

an obvious stall by Mr. Piccirilli, an obvious attempt to

try to drag out these hearings until Mro Cesaro's appoint-

ment came up again so that Mr. Cesaro could not be reap-

pointed and on the basis of the first night's testimony it

seems obvious tha.t was their intent, So I agreed with

others tha.t I talked w3.th, the reasonable compromise on

the rules would be to have Mr. Piccirilli and the Mayor

tel~ their story and then ha.ve Mr. Cesaro te11 his story,

and then have us decide. That's a11 we are supposed to do<

We weren't trying to cha.nge the rules to deny due process

or any other such thing. All we wanted was for one side tc

say what they thought ha.ppened and the other side to say

what they thought happened. For the last two nights of

these hearings, instead we've gotten a lot of baloney and

~



3-138

. 1

2

3

4

s

6

~

s

9

io

11

. 12

13

14

is

~ 16
0

~ ~/0~0

= ig
WZ
> 19m
0
0 20a~_
" ii

22

23

24

political and 1ega1 maneuvering by Mr. Piccirilli, and now

I stand here with a bunch of other Councilmen who are ob-

viously disgusted with the process, saying let's get it

over with, 1et's vote and get it over with. Christ salce,

a11 we are doing is throwing a bunch o£ words out and just

argu.ing over nothing. I agree with that senti.ment, but I

can't agree and it hurts me very much not to be able to

agree, can't agree tha.t it is going to be the best thing fo

this city. Somewhere along the line, Buddy Cianci's poli-

tical games -- and I don't usually refier to the Mayor of

the City of Providence as '"Buddy Cianci," he should be re-

ferred to as Mayor, but da.~ it he should act like a Mayor

'~00 .

I am tired of this whole thing, and it hurts me tha.t

can't go along with Councilman 0'Connor's motion. I kn

he wants to get this over with, but I can't sit here 1iv

with the idea tha.t Mr. Piccirilli has some secret witnes

and some secreC tapes and I know that in the Journal head-

lines it was written, the Journal Editorial tha.t was writ-

ten two months ago, getting ready to roll, Council makes

sham of whole process. We sat here trying to figure out

what's going on while somebody is saying what they think

happened, the other side saying what they think ha.ppened

and then vote. That's what we should do, and sti11 want
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to do and because of tha.t, I have to agree with CounciZman

0'Connorm

THE PRESIDENT. Mr. Snowden.

MR. SNOWDEN. Mr. President, it seems t

me calling of a vote right now is, one, a pre-ordained sit -

ation, and two, somewhat inappropriate. It would seem to

me that we orae it to both sides to at least govern this by

arriving at some set of rules whether to change or not,

the rules as I~tated to allow other witnesses be called.

To not do that cZearly goes against, I think, at least the

intent of ha.ving the hearing. To not have Mr. Cesaro's

whole side substantiated by his witnesses or the Mayor's

side substantiated by a set of witnesses that Mr. Picciril

1i calls,really flies in the face of having the hearing,

flies in the face of a11 of us, my own concluded, at the

way the hearings have gone on, but to ca11 for a vote, how

to vote, basically without Mr. Cesaro ever ha.ving finished

testifying, I think, is ina~propriate. I do feel that if

it is called for, the Council wi11 bear the responsibility

ot really not following this issue to the fullest and that

unfortunately is wha.t we w~r~e requested to do just two

months ago when we went around this ballgame the first tim .

If we vote or if a vote is called for, I don't know who in

good conscience could vote, myself included, on a situa
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where we have not heard the evidence.

MR. MANSOLILLO. Indeed it is curious

to have a colleague ot mine, who hasn't even participated

in each and every one of the hearings here this evening,

to precipitously move that we sustain or disma.ss in this

instance, the charges against Mr. Cesaro. You know, this

Council, as Mr. Easton pointed out, becaoaned publicly, be-

rated the Mayor,in h1s last suspension of Mr. Cesaro, for

not coming forth and making his case, and making his case

indeed includes the process which ha.s begun here. It in-

cludes a fu11 hearing, a full understanding of what happe

during the period for which the charges are presented. Now

how foolish can we be when we believe or adhere to a phil-

osophy that Counci7.man Easton puts forth. We wan~ to hear

the Mayor's story and we want to hear your story, C1em, and

then we are competent to make a judgment. How can that

possibly be? How can we get to the truth without asking

other players in of the actions in and around November 17

and 18? Whose story would we be apt to find accurate?

Those of us who trust Mr, Cesaro would immedi.ately vote to

dismiss the cha.rges. Those of us who trust the Mayor would

immediately vote to sustain the charges. That certainly is

not a process of discovery; tha.t certainly is not a hearing

tha.t is open and attempts to get into all the facts. Now,
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know that the Councilmen, ma.ny of thern sitting here, are

weary; I know they did not anticipate a drawn-out process.

It is apparent, absenteeism is beginning to grow day by day

Tonight we are absent several Councilmen, and there have

been Councilmen present tonight that have not been present

previously, and they're axixious to get on with it, but we

have an obligation, as Councilman Easton pointed out, we

must gain a fu11 understanding of what happened regarding

these events, and we have adopted rules by which to act as

a guide and to steer us in the course of fairness, and I

submit to you, any process that precludes the presentation~

of evidence from any source is not in the best interest of

the people of this city. I hear a lot of other wild-eyed

statements this evening, I hear the Councilmen talking abou%

the Mayor growing up; I hear the Councilmen making asser-

tions that the Mayor has not produced a listo We11, his

knowledge is limited as all of our knowledge is, and indeed

to get to the bottom of this or any other matter tha.t ~ies

before us, requires proper discovery, and I cannot be part

of, and I'm sure most of you cannot be part of, a process

tha.t would end so abruptly, tha.t seems to be only the

m a ch ina tions of a truly political body.

Now we know, and I personally believe, that this

Charter provision which causes this process to take pl.ace
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is not at a11 healthy because on the very face of it there

are adversary parties here, the Executive is of one party

and the Legislature is of another, but we owe, if not our-

selves, we owe the people tha.~ we represent a fu11 airing

of these matters and how can you have a hearing, a com-

plete and fu11 hearing, pitting one side against another,

without asking others who may have knowledge about the

events of tha.t evening to come forward --

POLICE OFFICER. The Mayor's cha.uffeur

has requested we clear the hall because of a bomb threat.

THE PRESIDENT. This hearing wi11 con-

tinue tomorrow af~ernoon at 4:00.

(HEARING RECESSED AT APPROXI-
MATELY 10:40 P.M.)
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